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GOODRICH: In the late 19508, Lloyd Cutler got hold of me. He apparently
had some connection with Governor G. Meunen Williams of Michigan. Williams
apparently was thinking of a national race in 1960, or a senatorial race in
1958, or something, and he was interested in acquiring a series of position
papers. In light of my background in Defense, Cutler asked me if I would get
up a drief history of the first several years of the Office of the Secretary
of Defense and, in particular, if 1 would try to identify the important i.nu:#
that I thought still were issues. Now this was at least five years after 1
had left, but I had niwnys as a matter of personal intarast tried to keep in
touch with what was going on.

In fact, although I left in 1953, I had been called back in 1956 as a
special assistant to the Secretary for a study that he had set up to look
into the cause of leaks of information. There had been a series of articles,

principally in the New York Times, written by its Peutagon correspondent, a

writer named Anthony Leviero. (He was a very good writer who unfortunately
died many years ago.) There had been a series of stories about missile prob~
lems or 8 lag in missile development, and this night have tied in with the
beginnings of the stories about the missile gap, so-called, something that I
believe President Kennedy later made much of. This was 1956, and it appeared
from the news stories that Leviero had gotten a fair amount of his informatt
from an Army colonel, whose name I think was Nickerson. Secretary Wilson

was quite exarcised about the possiblity of lasks, and he called back Charles
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Coolidge, who had been assistant secretary in 1951 and 1952, and asked him to
chair a committea whose other members were retired officers of considerable

rank-—~Admirsl Fechteler of the Navy, General Joha Hull of the Army, Lhuteunﬁ

Ganeral Idwsal Edwards of the Air Force, and General Gerald Thomas of the Marires.
Colonel Carey Randall, who was still with the Secretary's office, callad me 4
at the beach (I was there on a vacation with my wife and son) and said that t
Secretary was looking for gomebody to be director of staff in that internal
inguiry; would I be interested? 1 got back and talked with the Secretary,
whor I had gotten to know in 1953, at the time of his confirmation. I was
very happy to agree to work with that committee.

With that backgrouand, which dipped me back into Defeuse matters fairly
deeply some three years after I had left, and the experience of my six years
in Defense, 1 felt in early 1959, when I got the request from Cutler to pra-
pare a paper on the history and problems in 0SD, that I really wasu't all thag
out of date; eo I went ahead. I enjoyed getting it together and got it to
Cutler's friend, Alfrad Davidson, the man who was preparing this material, or
gort of chairing its preparation for Mennsn Williams, neither of whom I had
aver met. Davidson later came to Washington and we had a couple of couverse~

tions and some correspoudence sbout the paper. Davidson soon thereafter left

for a job in Rurcps. My paper and presumably the others on which he had woxked
wound up with Adem Yarmolinsky, who asked to get together with me to revieaw m
paper. At that time, on first acquaintance he seemed like an interesting you
gentleman, and he listenmed to it all vary seriocusly. It later became clear that

Menneu Williams was @0 natiomal political figure, and nothing came of whatever
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his interest might have been. Yarmolinsky in some way got tied in with

either the Kennedy campaign or with some of the people who were briefing
themsalves on wvhat they were going to do in the new administration. I
was utterly smazed when I discovered that Yarmolinsky was going to be
a special assistant to Secretary MacNamara. I prided myself to think
that at least he was well prepared, not haviang had any prior connection
with Defense but having that memorandum and having gone over it with me
on several occasions. I hope that there was uothing in that memo that

made him the so—called enfant terrible in the Departmeat that he later

became.
CONDIT: 1 think that was within iis nature.

GOODRICH: Now that you've mentioned his name, I did at that time have a
sort of paternal feeling about the beginnings of the McNamara administra-
tion because of Yarmolinsky turning up where he did and the {nsights

into the dapartment that I at least tried to sketch ocut for him.

CONDIT: I'd like to go back to the department when you first came. Whan

did you arrive?

GOODRICH: 1Iun February 1948, I believe. That would have heen about four or
five months after the department officially came into being. You wuight say
I was a "first settler.” They hsd ne room, they had no desk, and they apolo-

gized for that.

CONDIT: You knew Foroestal?
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GOODRICH: 1In the seuse that he was Secretary and on some isolated occasious
1 would have some contact with him. Most particularly, my first assignment
turned out to be very successful, and I remember when I was brought in
to receive his congratulatiouns. That was the writing of the Reserve
Retirement Act in 1948, a matter that was of great interest to President
Truman. Trumsn, as a veteran and as a8 non~regular military man, felt
that reservists deserved some privileges of retirement. There had been
a bd411 in Congress that the Congress had rejected, because they felt
that its costs could become astromomical and they wanted something that
could be countrolled. I was just given this task: “See what you caun do.”
I got the bills, and they appointed a connittse to guide, assist, or
counsel me. The committee cousisted of the three assistaunt secretaries
of the military departments: Gene Zuckert, Gordon Gray, and a really
fine gentleman who was the assistant secretary of the Navy, John T.
Koehler. 1 would meet with that committee and with the Judge Advocate's
representatives, who were principally high ranking Judge Advocates.

1 worked out a completely different approach to qualification for
retirement simply by deciding to create or to define what was called &
“satisfactory yesr,” the definition being based on acquiring a cartain
number of credit points. I picked on 60 for a sstisfactory year. One
got fifteen points for being alive and being in the reserve-~that was a
subject which cams up three or four years ago when the military was
trying to find out where the 15 points came from and countacted me.

It was felt that sisply for being in the reserves, even if you did
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nothing, you'd get 15 points. Then, you would get a point for each day
of active duty, for each monthly trsining session regardless of whether
it was a two—hour or a day long session. And you'd get a point for
every so many hours of paper work that you would do, veading the various
manusls and regulations and answering examination questions. You had to
have a certain mininum number of poiuts in order to have the satisfactory
year, but if you were not on extended active duty you couldan't be credited
with more than 60 points. In other words, you couldn't make a bonanza of
the point system. The ultimate was, I gusss, 60 as the upper and lower
limit: If you didn't have 60, it wasn't satisfactory; but you couldm't
be credited with more than 60 unless you were on extended active duty.

On that basis, if you had 20 satisfactory yesrs in the course of your
reserve service, you then became eligible for retirement at age 60,

but not before.

When that was accomplished, we went back and presented it to the
Cougress, which the previous year had rejected the whole idea of reserve
retirement. They were delighted with it! Retired Army General Verne ([D.]
Mudge, who I think headed the first cavalry division in the Philippines,
was then a staff member of the Senate Armed Services Committee and he
was principally involved with handling this particular bill., He thought
it was great, There was a retired Msrine colonel, Joe Chambers, whose
first name was Justice, who died about three years agoe, who also was on
the staff. Thay put the bill through the Congress without really the for-
msality of a further hearing ou the subject. They constructed a hearing
that was reported in the Senate committae reports as a hearing, but it

5
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was sort of a motion, and then a motion to adjourn, and they racedved
the new version of the legislation, the amended version, and it just
went right through. The White House was delighted. Mr. Forrestal was

Qelighted, and that was in the first few months of my time.
CONDIT: Was Mr. Leva delighted?

GOODRICH: Yes, he was. It was he who brought me in to Mr, Forrestal, who
was interested, but I thought it was in a curious way. I hadn't heard or
known very much of him, and later on, when his illness became more widely
known, I thought back om this. My principal recollaction of being in with
hin that day was that, whea he put his hand out to shake my hand, there was
really sn uncanny feeling of contact~-his hand seemed formless and cold,

almost lifeless.
CONDIT: No response!

GOODRICH: Thare he was, commsnting, aud we had not seen much of him. A
curious thing, I had all three special assistants once—I was a dachelor
then~-in my apartment one evening, just a group of people together, all

three with their wivea.
CONDIT: This would be Leva, Ohly, and McNeil?

GOODRICH: And other guests. We were young then; so we were just sitting
around talking quite late, eating whatever I could offer. It wemt on

until one or one~thirty in the morning. That was the anight that Forrestal
went out of the hospital, you know, and I've often womlere;l since whether

6
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he'd been trying to reach any of them. The story that always went sround
the office was that they (the three assistants) could get a call at any hour
of the night—he'd call them any time he was avake, which apparently was quitr
frequently. But there they were, all where he couldn't have reached them.

CONDIT: I'va talked to all three of them, they'va never mentioned this opisore.

GOODRICH: That's where they were. I don't expect that they would remember,

because their social life was a good deal broader, but that was the eveuning.
CONDIT: That night was a very traummatic night for them.

GOODRICH: At least that's one answer to where they ware; the other amswer

I've never heard is where General Marshall was, on the morning of Pearl hrbcir.
CONDIT 1 can't offer you amy solution.
GOODRICH: Except on horseback. They were in the apartment, 2316 4lst Stnett.

CONDIT: 1t's one of those things that you can't possibly kmow; do you think

that he actuslly did try to contact them?

GOODRICH: He had been in the habit of doing it, and he had done it from the

hospital. He didu’'t slsep very well. This is hearsay, I was told about thag.

CONDIT: 1 koow that Leva feels very bad that Forrestsl was put on such a
high floor, that a depressed patient really should not be put up there. And
they also turned down the Menninger Clinic. Menuinger went down to get

Mr. Forrestal, and according to the story either Prasideut Truman or

Mrs. Forrestal did pot want him to go to the Menninger Clinic because it
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was associated with mental illness, and they thought the story would be more

contained 1if he weut to a naval hospital. So they put him in the naval
hospital, and spparently no one saw him except the Secretary of Defense,

who was not the right person to be allowed out there. But that's very sad.

GOODRICH: Yes, it was all terribly sad, that a man of his achievements
and accomplishments found so many problems that otherwiase could have been
simply difficult relationships but, in the context of what he was doing aund

a lot of people of his status in life were doing, normal relationships.

CONDIT: One thing that does strike me though, is the institutional worry
that T have. I can't believe that it was just a sudden plunge! I think,
hars was a man who was Secretary of Defense in this country, and whatever
ths personal tragedy, ths chance of a national tragedy is also iumherent

in that situstion.

GOODRICH: You have @ comment to the same effect about Secretary Johnson
in the draft manuscript. That's the thing 1've been reading recently
about those years., It's a comment perhaps attributed to soma other
officisls; but he later did have this operation on his brain; and there

was the comment by Acheson.

CONDIT: That was a vasty comment., I reslly do not know whether it had
suy effect upon him so many years earlier. I just feel that the chemfstry

of those two men was impossible.

GOODRICH: In medical lore these brain tumors do send warning signals in
advance, the ounly thing I've never heard is how long in advance the

-
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manifestations of tumor growth become evident in behavior. There are

paople who later end up with precisely that kind of s medical problem,
whogse history leading up to the final diagnosis indicated volatility,

strong emotional reaction, quick anger, somatimes irrationality.

CONDIT: I just hadn’'t considered that Johnson was suffering from some-

thing at the time he was Secretary.

GOODRICH: Yes, many years intervened between his time in Defense and

his later operatioun.

CONDIT: I have a feeling that his eruptions and nastiness were part of
the entire anti-Acheson, anti-Johuson kind of relationship they had.
There certainly has been a lot of discussion about how I have treated
Johuson. Some people seem to feel I've been much too kind, and other
people feel that I've been much too harsh. I know that Rudy Winnacker
thought I was quite harsh in treating Mr. Johnson. On the other hand,
when we were having our seminar the other day and Mr, Halaby was talking,
obviously he did not feel I had even begun to plumb the possibilities.
Surprisingly enough, very quietly Gemeral Nichols said to me, “1'm on
Halaby's side.” That stunued me. He's coming here next week to do the

sane thing you're doing. How do you react?

GOODRICH: That should be very interesting. I had more frequant occasions
to be in meetings conducted by Johnson than by Forrestal. Everybody was
much more junior, the department was really under way only about four or
five months when I got there [in 1948]. You have to remesmber, of course,
that Mr. Leva, Mr. McNeil, and later Mr. Nash had all been working with

9
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Forrestal in the Navy, so that there were no new relationships there. There
was 8 rather tried and true pattern of work relationships, and the basis for
confidence was quite clear. It may well be that Forrestal as a result didn't
have to go out and interrelate with everybody; it was sufficient that he did
it with a small number of chosen delegates, which is a good way to manage.
You delegate as small a span of ceantrol as you ueed, and you probably do a
better job. Then, of course, Forrestal did uwot hava a deputy or under secre-
tary, it was just himself and the three special assistants. But it was a
mich smaller office. The only additionsl relationship that he would have
had in counducting his work was to relate to the heads of two other depart-
ments, three really, Army, Navy and Air Force; but he previously had been
Secretary of the Navy relating to the Secretary of War. Now he related to
some splintering of the former two groups, which had split into four [iuclud-
ing Defense], and he was the secretary. So his span of control really wasn't
all that great! If you want to look at it, you could say he had three mili-
tary department secretaries, thres special assistants, and, since there was
n0 chairman of the Joint Chiefs in his time, I dou't know how he related to

the chiefs of staff, whether directly or through the secretaries.

CONDIT: I think he also used Ohly,

GOODRICH: Yes, Ohly was one of the three special assistants in that span
of control. That at least is what I can recall as the the reason for the
lesser evidence of the Sacretary, plus the fact that 1 was reasonably
junior, as were most of the staff that was reasonably new to Forrestal.

The pace of the Department was quite different as it geared up to becoming

10
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later [August 1949] the Department of Defanse; it wss then the Natiomal
Militsry Establishment. In any event, Johnson did interrelate with staff
people in much broader groups. I remember that, either because my boss
aight have been away or for whatever reason, I attended a number of mset—
ings in his office, and the groups in his room at that time could run to
15, 20, or 23 people. I uever really counted, but you kmew you were in a
reasonably sizeable group. We'd be sitting in a sort of arc of chairs
facing him at his desk and the principal thing I recall was his manner of
acknowledging the end of what was being said to him by one person and indi~
cating who was to comment next. What he would do was simply to jerk his
head quickly, whether it was down—to-up or up-to-down is hard to tell.
That's how you knew you had had your turn or you were next, He'd go right
through the group. It was mostly a matter of people reporting to him, I
really don't have any recollection of any comments from him in reaction of
any particular nature. You usually come out of meetings of that type with

something of that sort.

CONDIT: Did you go to the AFPC meetinge?

GOODRICHE: No, I don't beliave I aever did.

CONDIT: These would be staff managemsnt meetings that you're talking about?

COODRICH: Yes, the OSD staff. Of course 1 was in the General Counsel's unift
and that was the reason for being there. Anything I would have reported on

or listened to would have concerned the legal aspects of our reporting.
CONDIT: Did you know Steve Early at that time?

11
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CORDIT: Did he come in on thase?

GOODRICH: I can't really recall. I have an impression that he would have

been there, but I can't recall.
CONDIT: But he didn't run the meeting. Johngon did--you were reporting.
GOODRICH: Steve Rarly was a completely different personality from Johnson.

CONDIT: Was he resally an under secretary type, some people would say he

was more a personal friemd?

GOODRICH: I didu't really know enough about the overall activities of
the department at that time to know what he was doing in his own role.

He was a very relaxed type. He always appesred to know what was going
on. If you had to talk with him about anything, it was a distinct pleas—
ure., Normally, whether he had the time or not, you had the impression
that he had plenty of time to discusa anything that had to be discussed.

He had & great sense of humor and was very relaxed.

CONDIT: Everyone seems to have liked him. How did all this change when

Marshall took over?

GOODRICH: For one thing, not only Johuson, but Early left. So did the
one assistant secretary, Mr. Griffith, and the special asaistant Louis
Reufrow; both of them were really relsxed, frisndly, unassuming, very

pleasant gentlemen. There are varfious ways in which I have seen their

12
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activities commented on, but they ware very normal human beings. Renfrow,

to my recollsction, vas a former deuntist.
'g_g_n;gr_s 1 thought it was Griffich!

GOODRICH: Your text says Griffith, and I made & note that I never heard 1it.
CONDIT. That's & question, then. [Renfrow was the dentist!]

GOODRICE: In any event, they were vary nice gentlemen to deal with and none
of us had any problem that I can recall. I don't kuow how the other people
feel who were in positions of immediste responsidbility to the secretary, hudr
ing verious areas or offices. It may well be that the points of diffareunce
had to be fought out smong them and the rest of us possidly were sheltered
by the fact that we didn't hava to engage in those debates. But they all
! left, and that was the principal hallmark of the sdveat of the maw tesm.
General Marshall came in very quietly, no fuss, Mr. Lovett with hims, and
the initial contacts of course were with the priacipsl assistants who were
in office then as assistant secretaries, with the one exception that oune

of the thrse assistaont secretaries, Mr. Griffith, did leava.
CONDIT: He left in November, didu't he?

COODRICH: I don't recall whether he held over a short while or not. His poi:l.—
tion vas vacated. McNeil Tremained as comptroller, Leva remained as head of
LéL (legal snd legislative affairs), and I don't know the date of Griffith's
departure. Of course, the Griffith positiou was converted to personoel
and Mrs. Rosenberg took office.

13
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CONDIY: Let's get on the record, because I've been told this but I lack

ou the record confirmation that Anna Rosenberg was the only person [official]

in the department whom Marshall called Anna-~called by her firet name.

GOODRICH: She was the only person in the department who was named Annal
There were no high-ranking women except for Anna Rosenberg, that I can
recall at all, He called Rosenberg by her first name but did so only in
small, informal group meetings.

CONDIT: But did he call Leva, Marx?

GOODRICH: He called avery man, military or civilian, without exception,
by his surnvase. Whether that was his lifelong habit or not, I domn't know.

That's what he did ar that time.
CONDIT: Includimg Colonal George?

GOODRICH: Yes. Colounel George was George, and you had to remember it was
his last name. He was a major when this began. Clarence J. George. I'll
say this about it—the use of tha last name was mever heard, and I never took
it, as having any kind of a meaning other than that was the way Marshall
addressed people. Whather it was easier to remesber last names or whether

he had an aversion to any suggestion of familisrity that might come of using
first nanes, to me didn't seem to indicate any attitude on his part of nntin#
to be overly formal or wanting to seem removed or severe or disciplimariasm in
his spproach. I'm struck by some of the references in the mamuscript which
quite obviocusly stem from the reports of other peopla about the way in which
he expressed himself, his feelings or relations with others. 1 still have
the feeling that he was a very warm person and that's the impression I got.

14




Page determined to be Unclassified
Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS

IAW EO 13626, Section 3.5

Date:

MAY 1 3 2013

I paver felt, except on one occasion which is sort of humorous, that I wss on

the carpet when I got in front of bim or might be {n trouble if I did ao-ethiqg

wrong. I think, on the other hand, there was a general feeling that~-whether
because of General Marshall's attitude or because of his position, seniority,

or long experience--there was no warrant for anyons to be familiar with him

sud no call for familiarity or chitchat. But no one ever said, "These are th
rules of the game.” This was how he did business, and it was perfectly no
to interact with him that way.

The one occasion that I just mantioned occurred one dsy whem I was in
thera, and there were a number of other people. One in particular was General
Bradley, who was sitting in a chair just to my left. That might have been 0:1
of the early occasions on which I had been called in to small group meetings
in General Marshall's office, and I atill cousidered myself reasouably junior,
I was an assistant general counsel--1 didn't become a deputy general counsel
until late 1951 or early 1952. General Marshall had been expressing a view otL
something or other in talking with General Bradley, and he suddenly turned to
me and said, "What do you think, Goodrich?™ I was so surprised to be ssked
that, when I started to talk, I discovered that my voice was extremely loud.
It came out almost like the boom of a cannon! I noticed that General Bradley
sort of 1ifted himself in his seat and turned to look at me. I was either
tense or excited about getting a question of that sort, but I got countrol of
myself and toned down quickly. I could see just the faintest smile acroas
General Marshall's face. That is reslly the only occasion when I was sort of

taken back and had a feeling like whatever you were describing.

CONDIT: I gather you got to know him somewhat better after that.
15
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GOODRICH: For one reason or another, I was in there quite frequeuntly with him

CONDIT: Did you help him with his confirmation hearings?

COODRICH: No, it was Secretary Wilsom whom I helped.

CONDIT: Lat's go back to Marshall. Did Larkin help, or Leva?

GOODRICH: Leva would have bsen in charge, hs was the assistant secretary.

My perticular recollection of General l?arnhnl" confirmation is that I
was given the task of writing the lesgislation to make him eligible for
nomination and confirmation as secretary, because the law barred anybody
who &d done military service or had been & commissioned officer within
the past teun years. Where we got the draft of the bill from I don't kuow,
but I remsmber that aight because we were in this building until two or

three in the morning.

CONDIT: Be was ineligible om two counts, wasn't he, because he had been a
comnigsiondd officer within the last ten years and as a genaral of the

Arny ha was always on active duty?
GOODRICH: He was still a commissioned officer.

CONDIT: He did remain a general of the Army, did he mot? They made an

exemption, did they not?

GOODRICH: Based on something I've seen recently, principally in your text,

the answer is yes.

CONDIT: I saw that somevhere, I have been trying to confirm that.
16
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GOODRICH: That's where you pointed out that he got the maguificent sum of
a little over $3,000 a year to be secretary, because his retired pay was

almost the pay of the secretary.

CONDIT: And you realize what a financial sacrifice he was making, because he
had had the Red Cross salary, complete. And when Truman asked him, he was

giving up maybe $10,000 a year, maybe more.

GOODRICH: Yes, thoss salaries weren't very high in those days, but they went
a lot further than things go today. Those of us who were on the staff as gr
15's, for example, in the years when the top officials uader the secretary we
the three special assistaots, before the three assistant secretary posts were
created, wers making $440 a year more thau our bosses because the salaries of
the special assistants were fized by statute at $10,000. Grade 15 was called

that time grade [P-8] or [P-9], they had a different system of grading.

CONDIT: When Marshall firet came in then, he made one change. He no longer

met with the management people. Did Lovett?
GOODRICH: I don't know.

CONDIT: I'm just tryiang to figure out what would be the next major thing
that you would be involved in with Marshall; would that be the troops for

Europe issue? Or were you involved in the Anns Rosenberg confirmation?

GOODRICH: We all were, but the people most directly involved were Leva and

then Larkin, who went to the Eill with Anna Rosenberg during the hearings.

Whether I and the other people in my level had any particular involvement, I

don't know, except that it was the biggest thing going on at the maoment and
17
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everybody to that extent was involved. We were doing some research, aand
I recall that I contributed directly to Larkin some information possibly

about one of the so—~called principal witnesses against Anna Rosenberg.
CONDIY: What & mess!

GOODRICH: Those coufirmation hearings were very distressing to her. She did
not regard herself as Jewish, by the way. I can tell you a story about that,
and yon have someone in this town who will verify it since her remark was
made to John Adams. He was my opposite mumber as assistant general couusel
and theu deputy general counsel, until he left to go to the Army as counselor
of the Army before that office became general counsel. When he left, my
post was the only one that remained as deputy general counsel, and to this
day there is only ous deputy general counsel ium 0SD.

John had come into the department after the 1948 elections. The Republi#
cans had controlled at least the Senate and maybe the entire Coungress, I don't
recall, in the 80th Congress, between 1946 and 1948; and John had been a very
top level Young Republican worker in the 1946 campaign and was drought to
Washington by Senator [Chan) Gurney {South Dskota] as Gurney's assistant or
chief of staff of the Senate Armed Services Committee in the 80th Congress.
In the 1948 elections the Democrats regained control of the Senate, and
Senator Tydings of Maryland resumed the position of chairman of the Senate
Arsed Services Committee. Then of course, he made staff changes, and bhe made
them on a political basis——and John Adams was out of & job. The story I got
is that Tydings, who had uo personal feelings against John Adams, called
Forrestal and said, "Adsms has good experience oun the Hill which could be
very helpful to you in O0SD." And Porrestal through Leva, msybe lLeva taking
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the lead, brought John Adams intc the Department, and he becama the head of
the legislative section of the General Counsel's office.

Through that role Adams worked quite directly with Larkin om the confir-
mation hearings for Anna Rogsenberg, and he'd be up there fairly close to
vhat wvas going on and doing what he could do through his contacts with com~
mittee staff and the lika. He kept up his acquaintance with Anna, as some

others of us did, down through the years, and would visit with her,

Because Adams had his run~in with Senator [Joseph] McCarthy after he bacsme
the Aray's chief lawyer, he lost his post in the Army eventually [after] ther
was word from the Hill that he had to go. Then he had some very, very difficult
years. We were very close then, he would drop in downtown at my office (I
left. the Department), and I remember what he went through very vividly. He
used to visit ss he weut around looking for a job, but he never could find a
job~~pesople were that afraid of having any contact with him.

Adams used to visit with Mrs. Rosenberg and so forth down through the years.

One day he told me a story, I thiuk because I made a comment about her; and

sald, "She's not Jewish!™ I asked him what he meant, and he said, “"Well, you

know, we always thought she was.” She had a Jewigsh father and I thiuk s Catlngic
mother, and while she was sssistant secretary her mother was alive and living]
in Rome—-again thiag is my memory. Adams's story is that, when he visited wi
her some years later, he referrsd back to one day when she returned to the Selcre-
tary's office with Mr. Larkin, reporting what went on in that day's counfirmagion
hearing, and asked, "Do you remember, Anna, tha day you were in the office, +
tears, and you were saying, "If I weren't a Newv Yorker, if I weren't s woman,

and if I weren't Jewish, they'd never dare do this to me.”

19




Page determined to be Unclassified
Reviewed Chisf, RDD, WHS
1AW EQ 13626, Saction 3.6

Uate:MAY 1 3 2013

She stopped him right there and said, "I never said, 'If 1 weren't Jewish'.”

That's Adama's story, and that's when we focused on the fact of her mother.

CONDIT: Mr. Leva thought she was Jewish, there's no doubt about that. And
I have another story from Marshall Carter that he had advised her agaiunst
the first group of mominees to be her military aide. Finally, she selected
Janes F. Collins, who later became a general. When she did select hix,
Carter said to her, "Well, he's an Irish Catholic.” And according to Carter,

she said, "Aud I'm a Hungarian Jaw, we'll get slong just fine."

GOODRICH: That's fascinating. Row you must get hold of Mr. Adams, if

only on the telephone.
CONDIT: When did she start saying she wasn't, though?

GOODRICH: The point is she aever asaid anything, and that is the only time I
have heard that. I should say that John Adams's story of what she said when
she came back from the Hill that day is the only occasion until this momeat
that I have ever heard her quoted on that. 1In New York I’m sure that every-
body thought she was Jewish. I don't think anyone had a bit of doubt about
that. I do know from personsl knowledge that she would countribute to Jewish
charities in a, for those days, very handsome way. Whether she did this ouly
because she was solicited, I have no idea. All I know, like otherzs' (kuovledke].
is based on the assumption that she was Jewish; and her husband, by the way,

Mr. Roseunbarg, was Jewish. They later divorced, and she married Paul Hof fman.
CONDIT: Was Hoffaman Jewish?
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GOODRICH: No. I naver had any question in my mind until John Adams’s statemept.

I guess we were talking about something, I [myself] had never heard the Lava

atatement.
CONDIT: She was viewed as Jawish,

GOODRICH: And a good deal of the opposition to her came from the uchimt:lonJ

of thess fringe antisemitic groups that exist to dig up all kinds of material
CONDIT: Including one Jawish man who had besn converted.
p————

GOODRICH: Yes, that was the man. So Pat Carter's commeunt is very intore-tin#
but, it's worth commant, and it wouldn't surprise me to hear that she'd say

that.
COXDIT: Of coursa, strictly speaking, she could not be an orthodox Jew.
GOODRICH: Not all Jews are.

CONDIT: VWhat I mean is, with her mothar s Romsn Catholic, it would not

be poesible to mset the quslifications.

GOODRICH: Assuming the correctuess of that recollectiocu, of her having said
that. I might have gotten this from her secretary, or maybs from Mr. Charles

Tyroler, have you ever talked with him?
Condit: No, I never have.

GOOQDRICH: Now thera’s a man who is very closs to Paul Nitse. 1911 R Street

MW, and I don't have his phone number.
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CONDIT: You were saying ons time on the telephone something sbout Leva that

gave me a new impression--that he was sort of tough.

COODRICH: Mot tough. A quality that might be regarded the ssme way but shoul
be describad differently. He has a very deep, strong voice and a stroug Ala
iuflection. He is, like Frank Nash, very commmicative, very communicating.
He is extraordinarily bright. He invariably koows what he's tslking about,
and he makes his points in a very emphatic way. Bahind it sll, he is a

complete gentleman, but ha does come over very strongly.

CONDIT: He would fmpress & secretary [of Defense], I think.

GOODRICH: Beyond any question. Oue iunteresting thing that struck me was
the nature of his relationship with Forrestal, the fact that it was close
and effectiva, despite the traits attributed to Forrestal--his seeming reces-

sivensss, withdrawal from a lot of contact. Ope wondered how,
COMDIT: And then he got along with Johuson, when Johnson cama in.

GOODRICH: TYes. Marx is a highly successful lawyer. He went from the Panta#m

directly into the law firm of Heunry Fowler, who later became Sscretary of

the Treasury and, during the Korean war, head of OPM, whatever that was calle.
Office of Production Managament.* Fowler is an urbave Virginia geutleman, ]

see hia quite frequently. He is still active in business, although ha has

*In 1951, FPowler became Defense Production Administrator and later the Natiofal
Production Administrator; the first was an independent agency; the second, a
part of the Departmeat of Commerce.
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got to be 75. He commutes to New York every week, The other partners in
Fowler's office were wostly Virginia geutlemen, one a Connecticut yankes,
writing a history either of Commecticut or Rhode Island, 1 forget. Marx
Joined that firm and became s very effective mesmber. He's now the head of
that firm. PFowler mever went back to it after the Treasury secretaryship,
he joined a New York banking hoyse. Marx simply is an extrsordinarily
successful lavyer and he has clients galore and people love him, and so

forth.

CONDIT: I gather that his success didn't really transfer to the relation-
ship with Marshall. 1I'm talking Leva and Marshall. Leva's success with

Johngon didn't transfer to another success when Marshall came in.

GOODRICH: I would have to say I rsally don't know emough to comment on
that. Levs ssemed to me to be effective with Johneson. How you character—
ize it in terms of success again is something I wouldn't know, and as for
any lesser sffectiveness with Marshall, I1'd be surprised because I really
don't recall as of that time any mention of any shortcomings. Lava makes
friends very quickly and very effectively. Working with him very closely
here in the departmsnut at that time, including the transition to the Marshall
regime, wss Admiral Houser, then a captain in the Navy, who was tha dapart-
ment's principal liaisom with the House Armed Services Committee. It just
may be a coincidence, but the chairman of that committee, Carl Vinson, came
from Milledgeville, Georgia; and Admiral Houser came from Milledgeville,

Georgia. Their couversation, their inflection and diction, which sometimes
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required New Yorkers to hold on tight, was completely intelligible vhen

they talked with each other, that is to say Vinsom and Houser, and to some
axtent that was true nlao_of Leva, who was an Alabaman. The fourth inter-
esting character in this quadrumvirate of characters would be General

“Jerry" Parsons, Wilton B. Persons, who was an Alabaman.

CONDIT: He had had Houser's place before Houser came, had he not? Where

was Persons by this time?

GOODRICH: I can't place him directly, but the recollectfion I retain is
that he headed for SHAPE when Eisenhower took over the direction of SEAPE,
and he became Eisenhower's chief staff assistant, Whether he handled
public relations or what his formal title was, I don’t know, but Persons
was as well known to us as Leva and as Houser. He was part of this team,
at the 0SD level, and he is another one of these very remarkable people
who come up through the service, a very effectively commmicating man,
very adept at Hill relationships (Persons). Houser had a very slight
speech impediment. He was very effective in his relations with the Hill,
but he was not, I would say, at the same level of performance or achieve-
ment as Persons. Persons was another one of these remarkable characters.
A very polished, gracious gentleman. He stayed at SHAPE and came back
wvhen Eisenhower became president. He was in the White House for many
years as a very quiet assistant.

It was Persons and William T. Rogers, who became Deputy Attorney Gemersl
who got me in to counsel Wilson after he got into trouble in his confirmation
hearings with ths Senate committse. McNeil might have started that, I don't
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know, bdecause McMeil was close to Persons, who was part of the old OSD team.
When Mr. Wilgon made his famous statement to the Senate committee sbout "you
men” and “what's good for Ceneral Motors,” or whatever the version was (“what's
good for General Motors is good for the country” and vice ve.tu, ete), there
wes aome feeling that he had created some difficulties for himself and perhaps
ought to ba counseled in his relations with the committee and what to say.
They asked me to be his persounal counsel, very much as Lovett did when ha went
into the ssmunition shortage heariugs [ia 1953], although Lovett did that on
his own, that was his idea. The counsaling of Wilson was Parsous' and I think

McNeil's and Bill Rogers's {dea.

CONDIT: Did you have any direct role in the troops for Europe controversy

between January and April 1951?

GOODRICH: Yes. That was the period of the great debate. I gave you a footuote

in my commeuts on the manuscript about a speech that was delivered by |Senator
Brien] McMahon, and I'm pretty sure I wrote it. I have a little bit of conscie
about it, because I cribbed something that John Adame had writteam, but I crib
it with hkis permission. When the issue of troops for Burope got a little ten-
uous in the debates on the Hill and McMahon wanted to sum it up, we drafted
those remarks for him. They started out with something Adams had written
which I can't remember spacifically, but Adams couuted the oumber of days it
took for Napoleon to return from Elba and then to march to Moscow, the num~
ber of days it took Haunibal to cross the Alps, somsthing like that, and we
used that thems of the passage of time, drief periods of time to accomplish
great things, to [explain] the need for expedition in this debate on the Hill.
If they could do it in those eras, we certainly could do such things today.
Adsms 1s a very accomplished writer, very fluent gentleman, a South Dakotan.
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GOODRICH: Yes, and he's the author of a book that came out about a year and

a half ago on McCarthy called Without Precsdent. 1 asked him where he got

the title of the book, and he smaid that was the caption on the editorial of

The New York Times commanting on the McCarthy hearings. He was the Army's

counsel,
CONDIT: I'm sorry that he had such a bad time after that; that was awful.

GOODRICH: Yes, totslly inexcusabhle. It took several years for him to get
out of it. We used that introductioun, and McMahon did make the remarks., One
counent I've made to you before, I recall, was the remarkable way in which
Senator [Henry Cabot] Lodge, a Republican from Massachusetts (his brother
was the Connacticut politician), and McMahon of Connecticut, used to team up
in that debate. As McMahon said, “If you can't find me, get Lodge.” They .'I“Jt

worked that way, as a team. They put that thing through the Congress.
CONDIT: So they really helped the adminiscration.

GOODRICH: They certainly did. They ware on the Senate Foreign Relations
Committee, both of them, and at that time I thiuk Sepator Vandenberg was
still around, I can't be certain, he might have left, I really caan’'t recall.
But Senator [Alexander) Wiley was there, and he was still guite vocal in
opposition to many of the Buropean progx'm in particular. I've told you

some of the stories about Wiley, and McMahon and Lodge together were great.

CONDIT: How did GCeneral Marshall do in his testimony?
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GOODRICH: My recollection is that it went over very wall, I wasn’t there
when he gave his testimony. They asked me to write a first draft [of the
Secretary's statement for military assistance|. It didan't survive, They
finally prepared a much simplified version. 1 couched the first draft to

8 large extent in terms of what the two congressional committees had learned
through their tours of the Ruropean countries, indicating what seemed to

ms to be the fact that they were quite satisfied with what they found and
were told, because they mat extensively with foreign and American officers.

Every tise I hear the word "junket” about some of these trips abroad
by congressiounal committees I think of those two tripe. Whatever meaning
“junket” has, it doesn't exclude working your tail off, bscause those
committeas met with peopla right around the clock. It's true that some
of the meetings might have featured a drink or a sandwich or something,
but you went in motorcades from meeting to meeting with sirens screaming
and lights flashing, and chat happened in the days when you never used to
see that down on Pennsylvania Avenus as you do today. You went through
all these EBuropean cities that way, and these committses simply were run
ragged. There was virtually ao rest. The House committee speut about ten
days more or less, starting in Paris, wvhere they were brisfed by Geoeral
Eisenhower at the Hotel Astoria.

In my notes I mention that sometime in the spring of 1951 1 had gotten
tha impression through my work on one of the inutdcyart-n:d. committess
preparing the military assistance legislation that there might be congressional
difficulties and I either talked with Leva or wrote a mamoravdum (I think

there was a memorsndum) to him. I suggested that the Congress would be much
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better informsd ou the subject of the uew legislation (the extsusion of

the military assistance legislation) 1f it could get its own first-hand
information sbout the extent, if any, to which the European countries that
wouid receive aid had made any progress since the war ended in rebuilding
their industry, tooling up, let us say, to produce whatever they might
contribute to the rearmament of Europe, the effectiveness of MATO, and
vhatever alse was {nvolved at that time. I thought that we ought to get
the important committees in the House and the Senate to go to Europe and
take a look for themselves before thay considered the legislatiou.

Leva thought it was a very good idea aud called me in. General Persoms
was in the office, and he agread that it was a good idea, In fact, siunce
he bad been the Hill man in OSD, his reaction was s very important one. Ha
ssid that, since hs was leaving in the next day or two, he would take it up
with Ike as the very first order of business to make sure that this was agree-
able to Ike in his nev role as commaender of NATO, We got word back approving
it. Then the legislative paople organized the project, the committees, aund
the House formed a joint committee, or a combined commfttee actually, of
appropriations, armed services, and foreign a!faﬁs. 1 forget how many
were in the group, I do have pictures that were taken by official photogra-
phers (they're also in the attic), at verious points we stopped at.

Both trips started in Paris, but the Rouse trip came in June 1951.

I'd been sent over four or five days earlier. Literally, I walked im one
Mouday morning and I wes ssked if I could gat to Paris to work with General
Persons and General Cortlandt van Bensselaer Schuyler, who was anothar top
assistant who was an advance man for these trips. They found a space for
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me on an airplane lesaving Mational Airport at 1:00, s Conuie [Conetellation}
going over on a military mission; snd, between 9:00 that morning and 1:00 that
day, I had to get passport, money, pack a bag. I was on that plane and in Pariis
late the next day. Then I spent a few days with General Persons and General
Schuyler, telling them who would be on the committee and what we hopad the
uittee would do, and General Persons would be back in touch with Uuhiugton(:]'
vhatever system was used for direct conferencing. The committee came over a
few days later; I was not on the plane that brought them over. We used Con—
stellations in those days, those were the special air mission planes. They
were grasted by GCeneral Eiseanhower at the airport. They thsn met with him

at hig office. From Paris they went to Brusssle and then London.
CONDIT: What is the date of this?

GOODRICH: 1In June [13951]. The committee then split, ons group going to

Oslo snd another to Amsterdam, reconveniung in Copenhagen, I believe. Then
to Itely. In Italy we joinad the Italian army in the field on mansuvers.
Prom Italy, we came back directly to Paris, late oms evening. Bryce N,
Harlow was e representative of the House Armed Services Committee staff on
that trip. He later became Eisenhower's assistant in tha White House when
Ike wss President. It was a very full and active trip lasting nine or ten
days; and, based on the cities that I can recall, I imagine that not much
more tham one day was spent in each place. We did have to get om the
Autobahns ia Garmany because we started in one place and went dowmn for a
luncheon meeting in Heidelberg and then we went to where the American army
was engaged in maneuvers in the region of the Black Forest, I think across
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the Rhine from Mannheim. That was that trip, and then we came back directly.

The next month, in July, the Senate group went over, That was a smal-
ler group, and it did not have members of the Appropriastions Committee, It
had simply the Senate Foreign Relations Committee and Senats Armed Services
Committee ssuators, mot all of them of course, just s select group of about
10 or 11. Senstor McMahon did not make the flight over, he came over on a
PaniAm sleeper plane; and Senator Lodge, I belf{eve, did the same, joining
us in Paris. They too started with a briefing by General Eisenhower (this
was late in July). The Senate group meetings were quite different. They
met at the very top levels—heads of govermment, heads of stats. For
exampla, the House group met with Departmental people, with the MAAG
peaple (Military Assistaunce and Advisory Groups). The Senate committee
was simply briefed in Paris. Then to London, where they met with Clurchill
and othercurreut British govermmeut dignitaries. Either on the House trip
or Senate trip, there was a dinner in the diniag room of the House of
Loxds or House of Commons with a number of British officials, quite an
ianteresting affair in terms of the exchange of greetings and remarks.

From there to Spain and the meeting with Franco at his summer palace
outside Madrid~-a meeting famous in my mind becsuse that's where Senator
(John J.]| Sparkman taxed General Franco very directly and forthrightly:

“If you want to bacome a member of NATO, you're going to have to comnvince
the American people that there i{s no anti-Protestautism in Spain, There
must be freedom of religion, and Protestant churches must be allowed to
exist and they wmust be allowed to meet.” One week later, when we got back

to Rome, there was a statemsent in the New York Hsrald Tribune by the Spanish
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goverument that there would be freadom of religion in Spain. These meetings,

of course, were totally fascinating, t0o see people whose names had been in
headlines dowe through the years and the way in which they were talked to,
as well as with, by some of the Senators.

From there to Athens, Greece. At that peint, this was a slightly longer
trip, just about two weeks, maybe a day or two motre, terribly hot. Athens
really was an oven on the 21st-22d July., We were asked to the home of
the American smbassador, who I think was John [K.] Peurifoy. He was later
killed in an automobile acclident in Indonesin. Mrs. Peurifoy had us outside
io her garden and said, "I know what you've all been through. You've prob—
ably been drinking from morning to night (everybody really had been drinking
orange juice, you didn't dare drink anything else); and you've been having
thig terribly rich food (which was absolutely true, with lunch and dinner
and everything thrown at you); it's terribly hot; you must be terribly
tired; and I thought you'd appreciate nothing better than a good cold
American buffet supper.” There was cold turkey and cold lobater, and it
vas 80 refreshing. The next day thers were meetings with various Greek
officials and departwment heads, and the next ovight the committee was
invited to the summer pelace of the king and queeu at Tatoi.

That afterncon was free. Senstor [Theodore Fraucis] Green decided he
wauted to do two things. (He was then 83 years of ags.) He wanted to
take & swim-~we wouldn't let him go by himself, we didn't feel that we
should-—so the principal staff man, one of the two staff man on the Semate
Foreign Relations Committee, Carl [M.] Marcy, snd 1 went along with him in w&

old dilapidated official Greek sutomobile. We drove down to a most beautiful
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bay with a little bsach, snd Senator Green stripped down to his undershorts.
We didn't swim; but he had a swim, got back into this car, dried off and
put on his clothes and came out wearing tennis shoes. We were going to
the Acropolie. Hs led us through the Agora first, at the base, and gave
us a professorial lecture on everything thare. 1 never knew that ha was
an archeologist at heart. Then we climbed the Acropolis, and he really
climbed it, On the rocks, with his mmeakers, he knew vhat he was getting
into! There we were——Carl Marcy a;u! I were infinitely younger than him

at the time, fifty years or so——and we were dressed to accompany a manator,
but with short sleeves. We knew we had to be at tha summer palace that
night for dinuer, and we simply had to quit about 4300 to get back to the
hotel and freshen up. He stayed, he had more climbing to do!

We met him later in the lobby and we went out to dinner at the summer
palace in a group. When we got there, we discovered that the menu again
was cold rosast turksy and cold lobster, as the previous night, and caviar
in great big sterling silver buckets. We had dinuner on a terrace. This
is a dinmer where the queen really took over from the king, who, delight-
ful as he was to listen to, seemed to run out of things to say. She
would pick up as he wound down, and she soon was conducting the conversa-
tions with the senators, and it was very lively, There were two large
round tables, and I happened to be at the one with the king and quaen.
Senator Wilay was at that oune, snd Senator Green. It was very lively
and there were no holds barred, I took no notes sud don't remember the

details except the iuterplay of commeunts.

CONDIT: How did you feel the Senators reacted? Were they favorably impressed?
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GOODRICH: Everybody seasmed to be, where Quaen Fresderika was concerned,
quite captivated. Thay were all, by the same token, in a political sense,
I thick, objective in the same mannar that, for example, Senstor Sparkman
has to be described in his very calm warning to Geseral Franco in Spain
about freedom of religion. It was a pleasant convarsation, it covared a
lot of things. Greece wanted to get ifnto NATO (Spain also wanted to, so
did Turkey on that trip), and it ssemed to me that the queen vas able to
comment effectively on whatever doubts might have been expressed by the
different senators there. I remember Senator Wiley makiug a personal com—
ment back at the hotel as we returned. Going up in the elevator, he was
quite clear that, despite his sort of isolationist views at that time,

he wvas impressed by what the queen had to say.

We went on to Turkey and spent a day and a half there., That was
dismal heat. We had hoped to be in and out of that place racther quickly,
and we left our bags ou our plane and took just one bag into town, only
to be grested for the first and only tima on this trip with the fact
that the foreign minister was having a black tie dinner that night. Cars
had to be sent out to the planes, which were standing in that blazing
sun; and, vhen our bags got back that evening, {we had to dress] in sbout
fifteen minutes. One bathroom on the entire floor to prepare for the
dinner at the foreign minister's! Everybody pulled his tuxmedo out of
the bag, there was no one o press them, and they were all wrinkled and
crumpled. That was the foreign minister whom the Turks later hanged for
some crime. We were whipped around Ankars in that heat, in that desy and
a half, from meeting to meeting, up and down what seemed to be ome
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principal boulevard, at that time, It all looked pretty nice. There were

some good—-looking institutioual buildinge along the route. Later that eve-
ning when we took a walk, 1f you walked fifteen feet off that main street

you were iuto the hairiest type of back-strast—looking neighborhood.

CONDIT: Do you feel that the trip helped to get the next military assistance

appropriation through?

GOODRICH: That was my feeling, and that was why in the first draft I pre-
pared for Gemeral Marshall I tried to reflect what seemad to me to be the
sanse of the senators' comments, attitudes, and reactions. We then went to
Italy, where we met with the Pope down at Castel Gandolfo, as well as with
[Alcide] De Gasperi, the prime minister, and others, and again very inteusive

working aessions.

CONDIT: Did you have any chance to see general economic conditiomns im

thogse countries?

GOODRICH: We were largely depemdent on reports made by our psople there,
but we did get a sense of economic improvement from what we saw as we got
around. From Italy we went to Germany, which had to be the pﬂncipal sore
point if one wanted to analyze the trip in that respect, aud there we
met mainly with American representatives. Whether or not the senators
themselves met in private meetings with any of the German officials I don't
know. We started out at the ambagsador's home in Bad Homburg, which is close
to where the airport was located. Thars were a nusber of German officials
present, and there was an evening of discussion. These discussions went
on in every single city and every single meeting. I nention the highlights.
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CONDIT: This would be John McCloy, in 19517

GOODRICH: Yes, I think it was McCloy. There were meetings all through the
day at the different departmsuts. (This was true also in Turkay.) You knew
you were in an occupied country, and the attitudes then were very different
than 1 imagine they are today, but the most interesting thing apart from
what I have been mentioning, was meeting with the individual departmeat heads,
prineipsl political people and the exchange of information. I really do wish
I had taken ootes, I simply didn’t. Nobody was taking notes, unless the staff
people later made notes, used possibly for committee reports. The concluding
meetings when we returned to Paris included a lengthy session with President
Auriol, with Senator Lodge acting as interpreter.

(new tape)

CONDIT: Let's start with the MacArthur hesarings, because you had & direct
role there,

GOODRICH: In my opinion, one of the best sources for information on the
MacArthur hearings, particularly insofar as they involved Gemeral Marshall's
testimony, would be beyond question Felix Larkin, who then was geuneral
counsel. Leva left office to go into private practice in the spring of

1951; Larkin was the man who accompanied General Marshall personally every daj
to the Hill. The briefing system involved two meetings a day-—in the

morning and during the lunch hour--so that, insofar as Marshall knew what
particular subjects were going to be discussed, the concentration in the
morning and the afternoon briefing sessious would be on that particular
subject. He met with a group of us, both morning and during the luuch

hour after 'm had had his lunch. The meetings would last snywhere from

10 to 30 minutes, depending on how much concern there vas or iunformation
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that had to be discussed or provided to the gemeral. The group that met
wich the general usually included Nash, Carter, Larkin, Leva, me, and some-
times I guess Mrs. Rosenberg might be there, and anyone else who might have
besen involved in a particular subject matter. I can't particularly recall
whether any of the chiefs would have come in on any of those sessions, some—
bow thay don't come back to me as being in that group. My principal task for
those hearings was the review of the csble correspondance betwsen Headquarters
Far East and the Joint Chiefs. They were made available, after selection and
review here, to the staff of the committees holding the hearings. The hurin*a
vere closed, conducted on a classified basis. The tramscript of the hearing
was reviewed on a daily basis by [Rear] Admiral (Arthur C.] Davis for security
classification, and after his review the committee would release whatever

portions of the [clearad] transcript of the hearing they wanted to release.
CONDIT: This all got out in one day, is that right?

GOODRICH: I don't know whathar the trauscripts were relessed on a daily
basis contemporaneously with that day'e testimeny or vhethar thare was a
time lag or mot. Adm. Davis was stationed on the Hill in the committee room,
all during the hearings, and it is possible that he was able to review and

ask sny questions that had to be asked.
CONDIT: I had heard that he allowed most of it out.

GOODRICH: A good deal came out, The only way you would really kmow is to
make comparisons, but there's 80 much detail that I can't recall. Of course,

there wvas extensive press coverags. The important thing was what happeusd
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in the committse room in the ifauterplay between Cenersl Marshall and members
of the committee. There, 1 think, Larkin was the key man, he was there with
hin every day, That worked very well, If he needed something in particular
during the daily session, he phoned back. At that point I was his principal
daputy in these matters. John Adams was also involved to the extent

that there was contact with people on the Hill and committee staffs, sad

the tesm worked quite effectiwvely. If something had to be researched
quickly, I had two or three of the lawyers working with me in a group and

wa would do what we had to do and contact whoever had the information.

CONDIT: Did General Marshall give you, by any attitude or by his questions,
a feeling as to how sympathstically he was hendled or how difficult it
might be?

GOODRICH: No, again my recollection of him during that period is wuch
the same as I described in my notes about ay impression of him generally
in his daily work. This was my own reaction, based ou what 1 saw and
observed and now, having read the manuscript, it is quite clear that I
was only one of the number of people who would have seen and cbserved

him in meetings and otherwise during that time.

CONDIT: Is this where the story with FPrank Nash comes in?

GOODRICH: Yes, in these briefings, one day. It's a etory that is very

easy to Temember. Nash was a man of great communicating ability, never
at a loss for words, and always well informed; a person in whom Gensral
Marshall obviously had great confidence. As the chief international
affairs officer in the Peutagon at that tiwme, Nash played a very importeut
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role in ths briefing of information that the geueral nseded snd also in
reacting to things that were under discussion, Genersl Marshall, as the
other party in this particular incident of course, is the geutleman we've
all described as being very reserved and very well respected—a highly
regarded person no ons would take liberties with and with whom no one would
exchange an off-color remark or the like. In a briefing ome lunch hour,
Nash vas trying to explain something om which MacArthur had taken a poeition
and it was a somevhat involved matter apparently, becsuse Nash, who was
never &t a loss for words, got tangled up in his own words in his effort

to describe vhat MacArthur had been trying to say.

In his effort to get along with wvhat he was trying to communicate to
Geveral Marshall, Nash finslly said, "Well, the only thiamg I can say,
genersl, is that MacArthur got this ass—backwards.” And with that, Marshall,
who was sitting at his desk with thea usual clean desk top and a single
sheet of paper right in front of him, heard what Nash said. And the others
of us who were in the room, there might have baen five or six, really
suddenly baard it the same way; and everybody sort of fell iutc a slightly
embarrassed sileunce, because it didn't sound like quite the comment that
was ever made to General Marshsll, But in a fraction of a second Marshall,
with s very etraight face, sitting quite still in his chair, said, "Well,
now, Nash,” (Nash was in the far right-hand corner of the desk looking
across at the gensral), "You know in about 30 minutes I will be back om
the Hill before that committee of senators. Don't you think, when we get
to this matter, it would be much better if I were to say 'bass—ackwards’?”
And that probably was tha only occasion when Nash seemsd to blush and we
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all thought he might fall out of his chair, but Marshall's humor came

across instantaneocusly and even Nash had to appraciate the way in which
the general worked out Nash's difficulty in what he was trying to say.

But Marshall was talking to him as one would talk to a well-loved son.
CONDIT: As I recall, it took about 7 or 8 days, this testioony.

GOODRICH: More than a week, it ran nine or ten days.

CONDIT: You also said that Marshall appeared to you to be relaxed sad steady,

GOODRICH: 1In light of some of the other comsents in the manuscript, at
one point I used the word compensated, but he might have been compensating
for the demands on him, given his own health or whatevar else. If it was
compensation, it was very effectiva. By the same token, I might never
have been in there when the real crises were being discussed, and that is
quite logical as well as likely. My field having been the general counsel's
office, law and authority, and then to some extent Hi{ll relations because
that was alwvays involved, I had nothing to do with other areas of opera-
tions, certainly not the operational areas, unless there was some question
or special assignment to look into something outside of the legal field.
And we frequently got a wide variety of special assiguments. So we were

asked about matters, really in today's lingo described as management.
CONDIT: Did you ever maet MacArthur?
GOODRICH: No.

CONDIT Why dou't we go back to your recollectious of Dan Edwarde?
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GOODRICH: He seemed a youngish, fairly rigid man who obviously wanted to

be friendly. There were no personal difficulties with any of the lawyers
with whom he worked mainly in talking or dealing, but he was always quite
rigid and ramrod straight in his manner and appearance. Not that he
seeaed to want to ba ramrod straight in dealing with peopls, he just held
himself that way. His manner, while basically friendly, appeared to give
soma impression that it was difficult to talk with him. Whether or wot he
had difficulty in expressing himself, I don't know. Hs seemad to be
somawhat formal when he tried to talk about things, but the impression got
around that his relations with the front office were not the best. That
was naver connected with anything specific as far as the rest of us knew,
but after he left there were some comments to tha effect that somshow the
ralationship with the sacretary and the deputy secretary didu't quite
work out, and why is unknown, as far as I'm concerned. Whether there
were particular relationship problems or particular bits of advice or
counsel that he gave that might not have been reaceived too well, I do

ot know. There were no specifics.

CONDIT: How about Mr, Coolidge, of course the opposite.

GOODRICH: Yes, Coolidge was very much the opposite, seemingly very
relaxed, very cool, very much the picture of the senior law firm part—
ner; very soft mannmer of spesch. Ha, we guassed or assumed, had a close
parsonal relationship with Mr. Lovett. His counseling of Mr. Lovett was
on & very person—to-person basis. Anything they discussed they quite
obviously handled on a man-to-man basis. Coolidge naver needed to take
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staff people with hia for any discussion, He would grasp what was iunvolved
snd he showed that ability almost as moon as he arrived. He demonstrated
a real kosck for getting the information he ueeded and being prepared for
wvhat he had to discuss or handle, and that's the way it worked. He was very
delightful and very plessant in his relations with all people at virtually

all levels that he came in contact with, and he was very widely admired.

CONDIT: You wers saying at one time that he hid very much the reactions

to his daughter's sudden death, in late 1951.

GOODRICH: His daughter was killed in that accident very shortly after
he came on board and just a day after he and his wife had left to join
some friends for a five~day vacation in Bermuda or somevhers like that.
The first break he had taken since he had come on board! It was a ter-
ridly tragic accident and he came back very quickly, I think he was
back the next vmek, toward the middle or end of the week, very shortly
after the funeral.

CONDIT: One thing that Leva told me was that he had been succeeded by

two psople, by Edwards and Larkin, that they divided the job.

GOODRICH: He was succeeded directly by Edwards, who came in as Assistant
Secretary for Law, or Legal and Legislatioun, whichever cams first, it was
L&L [Legal and Legislative Affairs]. The next person iu the Assistant

Secretary (L&L) post was Coolidge, not Larkin.

CONDIY: No, I meant that they had combined the two jobs of assistant
sscretary and general counsel and that Leva was both, is that correct?
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GOODRICN: No, that's uot my recollection, although Leva certainly ought to

|
be tha best suthority for that because Larkin became general counsel under Leva

CONDIT: Yes, that's right. I dide't use that, but I was wondering because

there has always been a quastion in my mind,

GOODRICH: This book has charts, I think it would show. Larkin was the suc-~
cessor to Leva as gensral counsel, and whether lLeva for some interval after
be becams Assistant Secretary (L&L) continued to carry the title of general

counsel, I don't koow, I doubt that ha would have done 1it.
CONDIT: What about Roger Kent?

GOODRICH: Roger Xent, as I menticned to you ou the phone, is another one
of those people 1 call great man. He'd been a naval officer during World
War 1I. He had great hopes of being Sacretary of the Navy under Mr. Kenunedy
but didn't make it, He was an active political figure in Califorunia state
Democratic politics and the chairman of the state Democratic committee
in the '60s. BHe'd run for Congress twice, I think, in his home county,
Just porth of the Golden Gate in Marin County, but nevar succeeded in
an election. His father had been apparently a close confidant of Woodrow
Wilson, And his father, having been a congressman from California,
although a Republican, was appoiuted by Wilgon to be the first chairman
of the Federal Trade Commission., Roger Keut as a child lived here in
Washiongton in what is now the ¥ Street Club building. That was the
home. So Roger came from a very knowledgeable political and public
service backgrouud and was in his mid-4A0s or early 40s vhen he got here
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as general counsel. That was after Larkin left, and Coolidge took over

as assistant secretary. He was very much like Coolidge in terms of
professionsl makeup, counfidence, and view of his role as & lawyer; but

ino disposition he was a pepper pot. Hs was full of enargy, a

chain smoker. When he walked he was almost running~—he had a vigorous,
snergetic walk, He was just tops as a guy, a great personality. He was
very incisive on legal matters, organizational mstters, matters of asthor-
ity. That type of question would come up repestedly in terms, for example,
of getting things done, which you desl with a good deal in the manuscript.

Roger would generally be involved with those.

COMDIT: Can you name something spacific that you can remember that he was

the chief honcho on? {
|

CONDIT: Was that in 1952 or 1953 or 19547

GOODRICE: The best recollection I have is the questian of ammunition shortng+o.
l
GOODRICH: There is s memorandum which will have a date. Ron Hoffman hap !
that mesoraundum., It's fairly lengthy. I recall last year he showad it g
to me and he wondered about its origins, and the contributfca to it, so ;
you can date the problem best that way. My hunch fs that it dates back ‘
to wvhen the problem or the question of whether there were shortages first |
came up and that, based on your mamuscript, was in late 1951, wheu you had
renarked that Lovett overrescted--when Lovett determinad something had to
be done and he got after the Army to place orders for ammunition. It may
well be that that was the time, both Coolidge and Kent beiug new, that
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they both jumped into that problem and Roger put together this thorough-
going mewmorandum, Now, conceivably, he could have dona that memorandum
also in early 1953, ss the hearings on the H{ll under Senator Margaret

Chase Smith were "ginning up”.

CONDIT: If Hoffman were so interested in {t, I have a feeling it's the
later date, because at the earlier date it would fall within my province

and he should have brought it to my atteantion.

GCOODRICH: It could well have come up in betwsen. 1It's just very hard
to guess at. The funny thing is, I probably have these papers somewhere
on what I call 2 desk at home, I think Ron made a copy for ma. I wish I

could put my hands on them} if 1 can, I'll phone the date to you,

CONMDIT: 1I'd 1ike to ask your opinions about some people who were outside of

legal and legislative aress. Do you remember when Marshall started the

EX0S office with "Pat” Carter?

GOODRICH: General Leven Allen? Was he part of 1it?

CONDIT: The switchover from Leven Allen to Carter.

GOODRICH: Allen remsined, i{f I recall correctly, and Carter came in.

CONDIT: How did that work, and what were the reactions to 1it?

GOODRICH: Again judging from your manuscript, there were adverse reactious,

but I don't recall them,
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CONDIT: Eventually they were adversa reactions. I went back to the Carter/ l
Underwood interview, and Underwood particularly remembars how exercised '
McHeil was over it. He said that at a staff meeting where he, Carter or !
Underwood, had read aloud an Army paper explaining the idea of how finished ;
staff work would come to the secretary, Mr. McNeil jumped up snd said that i
that was the most subversive thing that had ever hit the Uunited States :

Coverument because it only gave one opinion to the secretary.

GOODRICH: That's the old problem of the single sheet of paper. I can under—%
stand that and I can't tell you whether I recall that at the time, but it
sounds completely logical. Under Forrestal and Johunson, McNeil and the

others, Leva in particular; under Forrestal and probsbly under Johmson, Ohly

also~~without being an assistant secretary, these men had direct access to
the secretary and they were in and out all the time. The Marshall Carter !
operation interposed what you can call a channel or bottleneck or whatever. %
And conceivably, those who previously had had direct accass could view it 5
as some luterruption of their ability to get in there and say it straight :
out-~and from their owa point of view. Theoretically that might be an unco-

ordinated point of view. In a direct personal presentation, [how would one

koow] whether or not everybody else who might have an intereast had been con—

tected and what their views ware. The theory of the Carter operation was to |
make sure that everything had beem checked out, was fully staffed and coordi-g
nated before a final racommendation was placed before the secretary. In 5
terms of mansgement theory there is nothiag wrong with that; in fact, it's

very good. But if you are cutting somebody off from the head shed, he
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could see his authority being infringed on; and, for a direct actionist
type like McNeifl, that might have signaled a problem—things aren't going
to be the way they used to be, We'rs going to get bureaucratized. I'm
not quoting, I'm trying to imagine what might be said. Anybody could
feel that way, everybody reacts to any management reform or inuoovation,

whatever it's called.

CONDIT: But you yourself didn't koow of any feeling, such as "Marshall

is imposing a general staff system on the civilians hare.”

GOODRICH: It was callad complated staff work, which f{s a good doctrine,
military or otherwise; and it's good in any organization, but it was a
military doctrine. I remember it from my time in the service, and even
as a resarvist. There is nothing wrong with it, it's the same thing that
so—~called management cousultants today use in however they describe the
process. But no, I don't recall hearing anybody say, "My God, we're hav-
ing a geversl staff system imposed on us,” bacause at the time oms of

the tenets of ths organization, as much as it was striving for what we

call unification, was, "Let's not make & gensaral staff out of 0SD. We're

not trying to duplicate a gensral staff concept of the individual milttary

departments. This is going to be a civilian office, and it {s going to

try to evolve policy aund see to it that the policies are carried out, but

we're mot going to give orders.” You sse this coming up in the procurement

section and the ammunition section of the manuscript. Based on that recol-

lection my hunch is that no one really viewed the Carter operation as a
geunaral staff operation. It's just that where direct access might have
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been the procedure until then with preceding secretaries, it might hawve
appeared that it would no loanger be the case.

CONDIT: General Underwood said, Carter didn't say this, we were acting

more as & chief of staff than as a secretariat. In my understanding that
would mean that, instead of just coordinating papers that came in, they

were reaching out and saying, "You need to have an opinion on this and I

vant to hear it,” and that kind of thing. Ta other words, they were ini-

tiating action as well as simply coordinating action that occurred.

GOODRICH: If they wers initisting action, sending it back and saying

give us more on this, or cam you beef up point B a little more, and so
forth, that would interpose another level of perhaps decision or final
formulation of any recommendstion, and to that extent it could irritate
an assistant secretary who presumably is in a position to have the last

word on any mstter in his asrea.

CONDIT: It is Coolidge who complains, and who says to Lovett in the fall
of 1952 that, no matter how superb the performance of the paople who are in
EX08, it should not be run by military people. As a oon—lawyer I think I
understand his lawyerly concern, because tha secretary is by statute denied i
a gensral staff, and if he has military men acting in s sacratariat or a
chief of staff way, it seems to me that it might be possible that this
could b later used or claimed that he had simply bypassed the law. Does |

that saem to you to be far—fetched?

GOODRICH: That's a logical extrapolation of what the ultimate appesarance

night be to people outside who would be inclined to criticize, or people
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inside who might be inclinad to criticize. You could use that approach

to argue that, in fact, under the guise of a coordicating office, you are
creating a general staff--but I never had the impression that it functiouned
that way. My impression was that they were trying to be certain that papers :
coming in had been fully staffed snd gave full credit or accounting for all

of the elements of the problem.

CONDIT: I was really very impressed by the system. Marshall had used it
in State, and I thought that it makes good sense. It's the way to handle
things. Perhaps combined with Marshall's reticence and rectitude, people

may have felt that it was difficult to get to him.

GOODRICH: That was my first experience at a reasonably high level, and I
really was not in the executive levels in DoD and 08D, But later on in the
FAA, and partially in the Atomic Energy and Nuclear Ragulatory Commission,
and then beyond that in my last organizational jJob at Amtrak, I saw many
occasions when officials would try to get to the top man. Particularly in
FAA, certainly in Amtrak, and to a major exteut in AEC (NRC), the second-
aud third-level officials were very numsrous——there were many divisions,
departments, functioning areas—and theoretically all of the people head~-
ing the offices or divisions and functioning areas were tops in their
field and expected to know all the facts relating to their performaaca.
Many of them invariably would try to get to the top man, whether it was
the president, or the chairman of the commission, or the administracor,

and say, "This is what we've got to do.” Then the bass, who might be
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attracted by the idea, would suddenly discover, when he announced what he
was going to do in a staff meeting, that two or three other officars would
say, "Hey, we mever lmard of that.” And "Are you aware of A, B, and C
factors that apparently haven't been considered?” There are a large
number of factors in large organizations that simply have to be brought
together and raconciled if the boas isn't going to go off on a wroug

foot. Now, God knows, Defense was the biggest organization of all, and
probably always will be. 1 gather from your description of what Coolidge
felt that he didn't argue with getting all the information and reconciling

the different information, but the appearance of its being the forum.

CONDIT: I'm going further, he just said it should not be done by military

men, and 1'm trying to explain this to myself.

GOODRICH: That's an interesting version of the civilian control doctrine,

which is a pereunial. My hunch, from what I read in the press, is that

it continuas to this day, and in fact has spread to many other departments
of the govermment in terms of retired military personnel heading up what
are commonly regarded as civilian agsncies, But in Defense in particular,
where you have clearly military orgauization and the doctrine——I forget

its origin—that it be under civilian coutrol, the meaning of that require-
ment is subject to all types of interpretation. I'm sure that, with
changing personalities, you get a variety of interpretations. Coolidge's
view as a counselor as well as legal counsel to the secretary is in the

classic senss absmolutely correct. If there is & doctrine of civilian
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aduinistration of the military departmeuts and civilfan coutrol of the
government, then appearances should conform to the statutory prescription.
When you have the last hands that touch the paper before it gets to the
decider, particularly when the decisionmaker himself is a2 military man
or an ex-military man of unquestioned military background, the appearance
might well be that civiliau control perhaps is not in effect or is being
Jeopardigzed or isn't squeezing through, and there you have to look at how
it actuslly works. :
My impression of Carter at the time——again I seem to have a parsonal .
impression that is at variance with some of the others--is still logically
consistent with what Coolidge may have said. The fact that Carter might
have gotten on wall with a few or many people becomes immaterial. That he
worked carefully and comscientiocusly and let psople have their say, that
be ensured that papers, b;;fore they weut to the secretary, had all the
necessary inputs, wvhether from civilians or -ﬂitary, would not be incon—
sistent with what Coolidge ssid, which was that the appearance of it
still was not good. And that might have been an ad hoc view. The system
was started when Marshall, a military man, was secretary and now, as you
point out, in comes Lovett, who was a civilian; and yet the same criticism
seems to occur in Coolidge's thinking, notwithsteuding that the top man
clearly is civilian as opposed to military. That might mean that he was
concerned mainly with the fact that the last hands on a paper before it

got to the number one man were military hands.
CONDIT: I'd like to also ask you if you have any memory of Genaral Burus.
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GOODRICH: Yes, a vary warm samory.

CONDIT: Was he a strong persom in the depsrtmsnt?
GOODRICH: Yes, in a very seft way--very moft spoken.

CONDIT: People have said that they didn't have any mewory of any effect
that be had, and yet I felt from the record that he had had quite a bit

of an effect.

GOODRICH: I've msver thought of him in terms of that type of comment, but
it suggests to me to call him the navigator, if you will. I've heard his
described in many other ways. People were told to go to him when there
were problems. Did you need advice; is there soms clash of opinion; dif-
ficulty in getting agreement? Go in and talk to General Burns, he's been
srovad, he's seen a lot. He was ir lend-lease with Harry Hopkins in World
War I1, he was the oumber two man, if I recall correctly. He'd had exten—
sive experience. He was very much like Larkin, s very relaxed Irish qual-
ity: he liked people, be talked with them vary easily, he wasn't stuffy,
Nesh was the same way, but Nash was a little more assertive, a little

more dyunsmic~~his voice had a little greater tone of commpand. Kash
dida't coumand people, he wasn't issuing commsnds, it's just the way he
spoke. Whem you got into a conversation with Rash, your voice sometimes
took on the tones of his voice, because that was the lsvel and you wanted
to be heard. You bave some comments by Tannsawald, even in black aund

white 1 can hear the emphatic qualityl

CONDIT: I've navar met him, and I can hear it!
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GOODRICH: The emphatic quality was thexs, and it comes through even in
the few words of his comments in your manuscript. Nash, in a very admirable

way, wvas just that way; but Burns, in his very adairable way, was just at a
different decibel level.

CONDIT: Did you have any reason to know that he had any effect on Marshall,

that Marshall sought his opianion, or auything? He'd been brought in by Johnsan.

GOODRICH: My answar to that would have to be no, in the sense that I

really don't know., I do uot have any information.

CONDIT: I have found Burns writiung meworanda to Marshall appareutly in
raspongs to verbal requests. Than people have said co me, "Well, he just
of fered that,” which is a great put-down. I can't quite believe 1it, {t

doesu't ring right.

GOODRICH: I rsally don't knov what his charter may have been under
Marshall. I'll say this, the problem of making the kinds of decisions
that had to be made during Marshall's incumbency was quite different

than during the Johnson incumbency.

CONDIT: It was much worse. {I meant, the problems ware far worse, more

difficult.]

GOODRICH: You might say, although it might be s reckless way to say it,

Marshall didu't nsed a lot of military input.

COMDIT: This is on the matter of foreign affairs, NATO, there's a lot of

Burns in my MATO chapters.
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GOQDRICH: Yes, a great deal, because Burns was a prominent man under
Marshall. During the NATO years Marshall was the secretary of atate or
in the period in between, and he was the author of the Marshall plan, the

credited author, and that's only the other side of the military aid coin.

CONDIT: Would you question anything you've read about Burns? Do you

think I've given him too much prominence?

GOODRICH: I can't say that you've given him either too much or mnot
enough. I can only give you my personsl reaction to him as one of the
important wheela in the apparatus. A very well oiled wheel that fitted
in and did its job. He was always approachable, you could always see

him. I used to see 'dm years lataer, after he was fully out.

CONDIT: You told that story about General Lemnitzer.

emamhatnapa——

GOODRICH: Age 51 and training as a paratrooper—-the young msn who brought
it up was quite exercised about this, and so I said, "Let's go in and talk
to Geseral Burns.” The fear that was expressed was, "The nmilitary assis-~
tance program just won't get on without him.” General Burus ssid, “"If he
died tonight, the program would go on tomorrow.” Ths common sense reaction.
One of the problems was that the succcessor to General lemnitzer was a
completely different type (Scott). Again, personally a very decent, shy,
retiring, almost reticent individuasl, who I think was an engineer. In
any eveat, he came from a post at Fort Belvoir, but 1 think his background
was as an engiuneer officer, and he really seemed to us——he might even have
told us=—to be having difficulty in that jodb. He didn't like it, I
believe he wanted relief, I think he even said so—"What am 1 doing
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here?” That would have made General Burns more importsat as an adviser

in that area, with the head of an office no longer Lemnitzer. Ths suc-
cessor to General Scott, Genesral Olmsted [George Olmsted, International
Bank] was an insurance man, a banker, back in Iowa; a West Point graduate
in the early 1920s. I know him very well, I worked with him in Defense
and I did some work for him back {u 1970 in my law office., For almeost
four years more recently, my office was in his building, I'd go up to see

hin and talk on numerous occasions. He is a very outgoing personality. '
CONDIT: Should I go to see him?

GOODRICH: That could be very interesting. I think particularly during
those early years-~with the whole issue of umnification and civilian
control, the emergeuce of a third military department, the competition
between the departments for funds during the first three years when the
effort was to reduce military expenditures, the debate over roles and
nigsions, the great 70-group issus involving the Air Force, the carrier
(USS United States) issue~——the rivalry between the services was always

in the background, in evarything that went on.
CONDIT: Let me gat this right, now; is this trus during Korea?

GOODRICH: No, I don't mesaun it as being true during Korea, but as one of the ‘
backdrops, out of the first three years of the department, sud I don't think

it disappeared totally in some of tha types of things you have mentioned.
CONDIT: There was going to be a post—Korea.
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GOODRICH: Thare was going to be a lifetime careser, as distinguished
from post—Korea, for all of the individuals involved, particularly the
military. Roles and missions—as & subject matter, as a topic of dis-
cussion, as a debating point—was very important in those days, and I'm
sure it is no less important today. You read about it in the papers,
growing out of the iuvasion of Grenada. Roles and missions and getting
together. The unified strike force. It's today's terminology for what
was the initial prodleam of relationships by and among the departments.
Vhat did unification mean? And particularly with the early budget
problems——cutting back the amount of money for the Defense Depsrtment,
wvith sach department scrambling, and a naw third department of the Air
Force in there for its share of the pie. Each seeing what it had to
do to grow, or to be prepared. A great msny of the specific problems
that are covered in the historical manuscript are human problems.

I don't think there is any great reason to be surprised that some
of tha issues might hava been more fiery than others, becauss they were
very important issuss to the people involved. Not that anybody insisted
on a parochial fight while the war was on} but the decisions that were
made undoubtedly ware impacting on people whose thinking was involved
with where they came from, vhere they were going, and how they were
doing things. You can read the same thing about the campaigns in Werld
War II. Do you use Army troops or Marines whem you land ou an islamd?
Who moves faster wvhen we gat oo shore? Who does the job better? Why

isn't there beatter communication betwaen uanits? The age-~old problem.
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CONDIT: That's true, but I also have the feeling that, when Louis Johmson
wvas in, the emphasis on economy more or less promised or presaged the feel-!
ing that the Air Force view was eventually going to win out, that there was:
going to be a strong Air Force to deliver a preemptive or retaliatory strike
and they were going to emphasize that. The moment Korea started, the need was
for ground forces even more than air forces. Air forces wers used, surely, but:
they bad a limit. They had a Yalu limit. The ground forces were carrying the’
real burdean of the fighting. In addition to that, where was all this extrs
monay going to go? Really, the pfa got divided up rathar evenly: You bring!
along tha Air Force, you bring along the Army, you bring along the Navy. Ve
still see great budget fights. 1In 1951, for example, when the MIGs began to’
come in in great numbers in Korea, Finletter and Vandenberg appareuntly used
this fact to push very strongly a philosophical approach. It satid, "This:
country is in danger, and the only thing that can really save it is a strong:
Aly Force. When you bring along everyone in tandem (which is what they vere.
doing), you are cutting back on the very forces that are nseded at the cutting'
edge of the firat wave of the problea.” That was their argument.

They'd get a promise of some increass in the Air Force, for plsnning
purposes, but very shortly after that you have Truman saying, “"No, we're.
going to keep a 1id on this thing, we're not going to go bayond a certain:
point,” and he put the $60 billion expenditures limit on it, and then the Con-.
gress tried to put an even lower expenditures limit. So you have a feeling,
that, in essence, without its really being, strictly spesking, debsted as a’
national security issue, a major policy decision was made right here in the;
Peutagon without the natiomal security repercussions being totally thrashed odt.
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GOODRICH: The 70-group Air Force vas a pre-Korea problem.

CONDIT: They had 70 groups in the law.

GOODRICH: They were aiming for 70, they had a goal. There was a program,

and my recollection of it was (that is about the time I was in McNeil's
office) the great opposition in that office to the Air Force demands for
money to resch that goal. The timing of the problem was such that the striv-:
ing for that goal on the Air Force's part was simultaneous with the Navy's

building of the USS United States. The carrier got canceled, and feelings

crystalized around that cancellation, with McNeil the stroug Navy man, Resr
Adairal, in the reserves, and the Air Force was the apparent winner, because
it didn't get cut back. Whather it got anything positive ocut of that cancel-
lation, I don't know, but it wasn't the one that got its head chopped off or
its pet project killed. That's another ressou why in this very gensral way
I've been referring to the jockeying of the services during first few years
of unification, the defenss unification years-—a time when naturally everyone |
would jockey for position. Somehow in the background thare was always that
question-—is this a real nsed; is this a real issus; or is it, on the other
hand, just another grab for territory, or an effort to drive in the stakes
and say this is my territory, I'm not using it right now, but don't you

pitch your tent here? That problem was always there, it was in the backgroun(ﬁ.

CONDIT: The Navy got its carriers, after Korea. They wanted up to 14 pro~
grammad, starting one a year. So that was decided. Tha Navy got it; and
the Army certainly was improved and strengthenad, from 10 to 20 divisiouns.
It was doubled.
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GOODRICH: During that year was vhen the Army bagan to be 80 worried
about its lack of missile development capabilities. You had the new
phase come in. The Army thought the Air Porce was getting too much of
vhatever might be done, via missiles or the substitute for missiles, which
were, of course, the drcuft.' And that was the thing that led to the
1956 investigation under Coolidge of leaks, because Colonel Nickerson had

this strong feeling that the Army was being shorted on missile development.

CONDIT: 1’11 have to ask Geueral Nichols this next question—whether in
fact there was an sttempt to bring all the services along with rxegard to
missiles and whether that was any part of K.T. Keller's doing. Mr. McNeil
told me that {n the Wilsou era there was definitely s feeling to bring
all the services along insofar as missiles were concerned, He had one
hilarious story about the Pershing missile aund how it was adopted. It
was sinply on the basis of this little missile that works all right, and
it doesn't take very much money. It will make the Navy happy, and keep
then in the business, more or less. Wilson took McNeil dowa to Augusta,
where Eisenhower was golfing, and McNeil told Eigenhower, and Eiseunhower
said, "OK.” So McNeil came back and told the secretary at that time, who
appsrently had & very funay habit of tucking snd flapping his arms ss
though he were a little chicken. (McNeil imitated this beautiful msnuverism.)
The two men discussed what to call the missile and McNeil said, "Call it
anything, call it Black Jack, for all I care.” He went to a meeting
that afternoon, where the Secretary flapped his little wings and said,
“Some people want to call this new missile Black Jack, but we are
going to name it the Pershing.” It was a lovely story. The kind of
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thing that McHeil excelled in. Obviously that story does illustrate something
far more serious——the idesa that you are going to pull all the services along
simultanecusly in this mav field and not keep anyona out., Apparently ons could

say in one sense that this is a literal attempt to keep unification working.

GOODRICH: Or to make it work. You could look at it tha opposite way, if

you want to rationalize 1it.
CONDIT: You would agree, though, there are two sides to the coin.

GOODRICH: I've never really thought of it before that way, but the way
you point it up now, it seems to me that you can look at it snother way.

What f{t probably turns out as, possibly, is not the most economical way.
COMDIT: 3But not uecessarily the worst way.

GOODRICH: Yes. But by the same token I don't know who can judge wvhether

it is the most logical way. Maybe it is, maybe it isn't.
CONDIT: It is the most pragmatic way.

GOODRICH: You get along.

CONDIT: More than that.

GOODRICR: And you cooperate.

CONDIT: There's @ technical side to it, I think. 7That each service
approaches the technique differeutly and you do have that variance. You
nay find one service is far more successful than another, just in managing.
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GOODRICH: Each builds something into it. Since nc one has a crystal
ball, you don't ever really know what what you're preparing for. You

make the broadest possible guess and try to approach it on all fromts.

CONDIT: This leads me to a thought. I'd like to brainstorm a little bit,
just to talk off the top of cur heads, especially sbout inification. TFor
exanple, do you think the Korean war, on the whole, was sort of a godsend to

the idea of unification? It took psople's minds off of their parochisl problems?

GOODRICH: I never have thought of it that way, and 1 never voul_d think of
it that way. Psychologically and in other ways it mobilirzes people and gets
them to work together. It sort of overtakes differences and unifies senti-
ment. In terms of wmification, logically therefore I suppose it should
have had that effect. I never thought of that effect as having been a les-
son in s book that people study today and say, "Aha, wa really ocught to

do more of what we did when we were in Koreas. Wa learned certain things
about working together.” I still don't belfeve there is sufficient evidence

of that kind of feeling on the part of the elements in this department.
CONDIT: You mean now?

GOOPRICH: I don’t know the psople in the departmeant, I don't know what
goes on in the msetings any more. You have to rely on what you read and
hear--the meanings of nswacasts., It isn't table counversation where 1
travel. So far as press reports, articles, any commentary—there isan't
any demonstration of greater dedication to uniff{cation today, I don't
believe. The only thought that occurs to ms ia that the concept of the
special strike force might be today's satep in the direction of umification.
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Assuming that the strike force is conceived to be the operating instrument
anywhere, auy given place. That means you never know how you're going to
have to get there, but you have tc be sure you will. So if you have to
get there by water, or operate on water, or from water, water bases or

platforms, you've got to get all the operative forces in the group.
CONDIT: Do you thiok there 18 still a justification for an air force?
GOODRICH: I don't know enough about missilery and the big weapous.

CONDIT: I didn't mean it quite that way, I meant that the Air Force might

be divided up between Army and Navy; both services already have planes.

GOODRICH: Conceptually you could, and it would work. Conceptually, the
secretary of the Army and the Chief of Staff of the Army could make command
decisions that would involve sending out solely a bombing strike or deciding

this calls for a missile barrage, or we have to land on somebody's shores.
CONDIT: Would it be easier to have unification with only two servicea?

COODRICH: I suppose that is whether it 1s better to have a married couple

or a mfnage ) trois; I don't know.
CONDIT: If that were the correct analogy, I suspect that we would have an anawerl!

GOODRICH: I'm not suggesting it is the correct analogy, but I think the
more you simplify decisionmaking, assuming you get to the ultimate deci-
sion in & logical and well informed manner, the more effective you become,

uilitarily or otherwise.
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CONDIT: Vhy don't we pursue unification just from a little different
standpoint, from one 1 believe you mentioned, the role of the service
secrataries. They have really besen downgraded, I think, quite a Mt.
The Secretary [of Defense] now really does have the chief voice in the
dapartment, I do believe that occurs. You don't hear much questioning

of his voice by a service secretary any more.
COODRICH: Except for Secratary Lshman,

CONDIT: Yes, I suppose that's trus, but aven be has been quiet lately,

Do you feel that unification has been successful to that extent at least!?

QOODRICH: I suppose the answer is yes, simply as a function of time and
the kind of progress, vhatever its degree, that comes in time. You then
get to the question of your standards for gauging effectivensss and what
about the monsy? Is the fact that you're spending that much more

mooey today, leaving out the inflation factor, mean that it is not less

effective or more effective? The fact that you are spending more money

may sean that you're all that more effective aud you've discovered that

the product has got to be a better one if you spend more money onm it.
CONDIT: It hasn't been tested, prodably, since 1972,

GOODRICH: That's the major problem, you don't know what the test is ulti-
mately going to be. The old problem——are you preparing for the next war
or the last war? It's always the charge that everything that is going

on 1s in the style of fighting the last war. That's always the criticism.
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Agsin, vho knows what the next war really is going to be, or where it is

going to be. Congress 18 in the pictura, whenever you talk about whether
unification has been achieved, whether there has been any progress toward
unification, whether there has been any leaveuning of the friction between
the services. They do oot operate solely in their own environment, mili-
tary or otherwise. In the political enviromment in this country, Congress
is in the picture. The services have their backers and sponsors for what-
ever reason, good or bad. Let's say it's all good. The Hill expresues
itgelf very firmly on what a particular service thinks, or wants, or
needs—1it's our system.

I wonder sometimes vwhat the Russian system is. Last year I read a

naw book on the Soviet armed forces, The Threat: Inside the Soviet Military

Machine, by an English-born author who is a citizen here now, Andrew Cockburn.
A very interesting book, assuming that it is accurata, because it paints what
purports to be a very up~to-date picture of the Rusafan militsry. 1f you
believe it, the Russian military's effectiveness is affecred by cousiderable
internal antagonisms and rivalry and power play, much more than we're occa-
sionally led to believe there is in this country in the armed services for
the dollars, the missions, etc. He paints a picture of a country whare

the military leaders literally attach themselves to political figures

and those they think are on the ascendancy in political favor. As a

result, some command posts have fallen to particular people only because
they have patrons to whom they attached themselves years earlier. Where

one of the patrous falls from favor, a whole cadre of military leaders

falls from favor. You have to hope it's correct., Ours is quite a
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different system: the dascription of the Russisn system, if you analyze
it, sounds like a very political system. They attach themselves directly
to civilian leaders in the communist party, wvhich makes it completely

political, We don’t have that.
COKDIT: They have conmissars with every group.

GOODRICH: Yes, and yet they have not had internal power grabs—well,
power grabs, but not in the style of some of the Larin countries, where
the military steps in and cakes over, whether it's on the death of a
leader or when the leader falle iuto political trouble. On your basic
question of the progress that unification has made, I think it would be
an interesting question for somebody who has had real contionuity fn the
department. If I'd been in the Pentagon during the last 30 years, I
would have had a lot more experience to draw on; the one thing I learned
after I was out a while is that it's really impossible to pretend to
have judgments. There's so much you learn and kunow [from the] inaide.

I don't really know how the fellows in the White House can have faith iun
how they are making decisions, because you're just so much better informed
when you are fn this building on a daily basis. Forgetting the forest

and the trees problem, I still think you know more.

CONDIT: On a very superficial basis, I believe that the Korean war
had a great impact on short term unification, I do think people
pulled together for the war. That is not to say that there weren't

strong indications of future friction. The whole Air Force approach
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in the fall of 1951 1is looking toward the next war, not Korea.

GOODRICH: I don't want to leave with you suy impression that I at that
time had an impression or that anybody voiced an impression that that
kind of locking forward to what might happen later was going on during

the wer. I think evarybody wss concerned with the conduct of the war.

We always are. You've led me to a thought that has occurred to me a
couple of times, and I must say it really sort of came out very strongly
with Admiral [Robert L.J.| Long's assessment of vhat want wrong in Lebanon
when the Marine barracks building was bombed. I read only what appeared
in the Times, and they probably printed the eatire portion of the report
that was released. It was vary interesting to read, and it suggested

one thing to me, because, as you know, in the old days we were writing
papers on organization and things like that, Oms always thinks about

how you're going to do it better, how you're going to run the department
better, why you always discover ihinga after the fact, I really am
incensed at the effort to point a finger at Colomel tTi-othy J.] Geraghty
because I think he knew what he was expected to do, regardless of whatever
was written or not written.

Col Geraghty was uot expected to get into a fight. He was told that
he was there as the representative of a peaceful natiom trying to keep the
psaca among the aquabbling local contingents. He might have been trained
in security, 1'm sure he was, everybody ias, but his mission was not really
a combat mission wvhean he first went there. Ths White House, for exampls,
objected vehemently to the language the Congress wanted to adopt im rela-
tion to a state of war, or the congressional demand for notification from
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the White Eouse that the troops were headed for combat. In fact, ome of
the ludicrous results of that reluctance to communicate in terms of reality
occurred wheu they awarded the purple hearts to people who were injured and
to the dead. As I recall reading in the papers, the messages that went

to the families didn't say they were injured in combat, or in something
iovolving a war, or in a war., It had some ludicrous language about an
“incident of the service,” or an "accident.” And there was such outrage
ou the part of the families of those who were killed that the department
reissued the citations. You'll find that somewhere. Typical.

Getting back to Admiral lLong's inquiry avd vhat it all suggests to me,
in part maybe this all comes of the Coolidge commission in 1956 on the sub~
ject of leaks. I remember sitting in on avery one of those sessions and
listening to those four retired officers; it wss pheunomenally eunlightening.
Mayde what we need is a permsanent standing Admiral Long—-type of commis—
sion. The Navy in the old days, for example, had & general board. Now,
whether it was a place that they parked their superanuuated officers
or not, they had a gensral board. Might there be some value today,
cousidering all the debates, in having a general board made up of retired
officers drawvn from the different services? You are going to gat into a
problem of whather each service is represeuted equally. Whether or not
there is equal representation would not be a problem, I think, because
my hunch 18 that they'd become statesmen just as the four msembers in Mr.
Coolidge's group were statesman. 1 think Admiral Loug’s inquiry iato
the bombing of the Marine quarters was a very statesmanlike document.

That general board aight well ba a permanant fixture in this department,
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and its membership might very well be cenfined to formerly very senior
officers, although it is possible to consider whether you might want to
include some former civilian secretariss. Their mission might well be to
perform a contimuing surveillance and review and analysis of what is going
on in the departments without imposing great demsnds for separate staff
and separate briefing, and then to issue doctrime papers if you will, or
reports, to use a simple term, from time to time on vhat they have observad

and where they fasel there is reason for concern,
CONDIT: To whom would they report?

GOODRICH: That could be determined. You could start with the President

as commander in chief which means to some extent jumping the Secrstary of
Defense; or you could have them report to the Secretary, logically with
sone requirement that the secretary would adviae the p.ruidant as commander
1in chief. But I think it might well be an aid to the secretary, and it
aight be very helpful in calming some of the coungressional concerns or
providing 2 very bhalpful perspective in which both goveramsut officials

and the public at large could view congressional concerns and demands about
what ought to be done in and with the military, organizatiounslly and opera-
tionally. The very fact that, after something goes wrong, you go to a
group of retirved people and say, “Find ont why and tell us® suggests to

me that you might do it on a permanent basis. Why wait until something

goes wrong?

CONDIT: 1 don't view Lebsnon as a Pentagon problem, mysslf. 1 view
Lebanon as a crisis in confidence between the White Houvee and the Congress.
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To me, Labanon seems to be simply a place whers the [U.S.] armed forces
ware being used to create s political presence~—probably an unwise use,
since they were {of insufficient size], in a very exposed position, and
not told to be ready to dafend themselves. The loss of lives and the

public ocutcry have desglt the President a blow politically and I believe

a well deserved one.

GOODRICH: Which he seems to have survived, and therefors it seems a
quastionable blow, It really rolled off his back like water off a duck's
back. He finally said, "This is my responsibility,” but he did 1t abaut

two mouths later iustead of the next morning.

CONDIT: And no one associasted it with him, did they? But if you really think
about it, it was not [Secretary] Weinberger's respounsibility; and the Pentagom,

as I understand it, was oot eager to take on the task.

GOODRICH: I gather that. Perhaps that's a good illustration of what purpose
might be served by a geperal board, but again you wouldn't want to throw the
general board ianto a decisiommaking role on a proposed course of action because
that would then create snother decisioumaking superstructure. My concept of a
gensral board is a group of officers who—after thair careers are over, assuming
their integrity and their intelligence and their competsuce demonstrated by their
careers, and everyone knows who's who——-are asked to exercise countinuing oversight
on aan oversll hasis. The board would have a defined term of office and, on its
own initistive, because of its long familiarity and deep understauding of all of
the facets of military life and activities, it would Jecide what it would look
into or could be asked to undertake a particular inquiry. And if there is a
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debate over roles and missions, on the Iittle Pershings and the big Pershings,
and whether you divide them equally or whether one or another service is best
suited or vice versa for a particular use, you might get some wisdom.

Let's say {1t would be] raising Genexal Burns to an immortal level,
that there is a Burmsiac “contraption” that continues in this department,
hovering over it and helping it. An adviser’'s view, like a lawyer's advice
to a client, dossn’'t have to be accepted; but there it is, assuming it might
have value. Burng was put in here, and look what he did. Basically people
were told, "Look, he knows & great deal. He's a wise man. He's out of
immediate responsibility for a particular function. You have a problem?

Talk to him, let hin listen to your problem, and he'll tell you what he
thinks, and then you can do what you want, Chances are what he thinks might
be helpful to you."

Thinking back on that special group that Coolidge heeded [1in 1956] on the
narrow issue of leaks of information, it came out with an ingenious recommaen—
dation after it completed its study. It said quite simply, "You'd have fewer
leaks i{f you classified less information, and most of what is classified
isn't worth it.” There was a congressional hearing on this investigationm,
so there 1s a record on it. That group [provided a useful servicel. I'm
sure there have been other groups, Admiral Long's investigating group, s
very small group that performed a very tight and very axpeditious inquiry,
obviously talked to a great many people and came out with a very tempered
report, very diplomatically stated (in my view), of great meaning. Now the
problem is, do we [plan to do these things ahead of trouble], when those
with which we are familiar were always dons after some event that caused

difficulty?
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CONMDIT: I can see uses for ¢ board, such as you present: For example,
when there are divided opinions in the Jofut Chiefs of Staff, splits as
they call them; I can see a supar board that would hear all the arguments

and would give a separate opinion.

GOODRICH: Then you'vre getting them into direct decisioumaking, which is
what I'd like to avoid. But there aight be some JCS coucerns where they

could be helpful.
CONDIT: Statutorally it won't work.

GOODRICH: If it were ideal enough, hopefully you could get an amendmant

to the statuta, but I'am not thinking of that. And you might osed an amend-
ment to the statute as a practical matter. For example, when Eisenhower
was en‘lhd down to review the budget, and whether or not there ware other
tasks, I can't recall, but his temporary duty did not require statutory

suthority.
CONDIT: When he worked with the Joint Chiefs?

GOODRICH: Yes, he was informally, and the word "informal”™ was used,
given the title of chairman because there was wo chairman by law at that
time, There was no statutory authority for it. No reason why the secretary

couldn't do what he did; he'd name somebody chairman of the group.

CONDIT: Do you remember, Lovett resclved the budget crisis in fiscal year

1953 by calling in an ad hoc group?

GOODRICH: You can always do that.
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CONDIT: And he got some answers to certain questions that he asked, and

then he made his decisions.

GOODRICH: That's like the White House calling in special coamissions,.

But ay concept of what I, for want of a better term, call a general board,
really derives from what I think the Long commission managed to do in rela-
tion to the bombing in Lebanon. But it would not just come in after some-
thing goes wrong; it would sit on a permanent basis to exercise over—
sight in areas of its own choosing based on what it knows about the opera=-
tions and current decisions being wade by the department——and it should
aud would have access to those—and what it can identify as, or is advised
are, unresolved problem areas, or where the decisions made in current prob-
lem areas are suspected still to require more thought or longer range solu—
tion. If you will, go back to the basic question of umification. Would
it work better with two or three departments, is your question. Very gen-
eral questions, but generally looking to the future--what would be better
for the departments, for the personunel in the arwed sarvices, for the
defense of the nation, staying away from the political? Whether it's
poseible to have a council of elders that would keep its fingers out of
current family problems, I don't kanow. The concept is that it would look

at long range and fundamental current problems,

CONDIT: One thing is that unification implies status quo, and making it

ESE——

work better.

GOODRICH: The law constrains decisionmaking, the way it's written. To
make a8 change, apert from the kind of administrative change a secretary
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can maks by calling in an ad hoc group, does require amendment of the act;
otherwise you get all kinds of accusations. Maybe it's just as well that
this to you before-~in hindsight you wonder how you ever survived or the
department ever survived., The first five years of the Department of

Defense we had five pecretaries of defense-~five contiguous years.

COMDIT: Let's see, that's 1947 to 1952, aund you certainly did have five:

Forrestal, Johnson, Marshall, lLovett, Wilson.

GOOIRICH: Even 1f you start towards the eand or the middle of Forrestal's
regime and count & five year period; Wilson came in Jamuary 20, 1953, so
you go back to January 20, 1948, and Forrestal was in place, in fact only
3 or 4 months——s0 you're incorporating most of his term, But consider

the impact of changing leadership five times in five years.

CONDIT: I don't think the Marshall/Lovett switch was such a change. They

were not really a great change.

GOODRICH: You had a kind of continuity of function and Lovett did not
change the principal assistants and all that kind of thing; but just
talking about it in an abstract framework, as a way to run a railroad—
five differeant chief executives in a five year period! Maybe we lucked

out and, as you put it, we had a real team in two of them.

CONDIT: That gave you from September 1950 to January 1953, but then in
January 1953 the whole shebang erupted, it was worse than say other

change, I think.
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GOODRICH: 1 got the impression again, having heard and read between
the lines (having heard to some extent a little more, paerhaps much more
than today) that the McNamara years were much more turbulent than the

Wilsou years, Certainly at the outset, and persistently.

CONDIT: Because he was really threatening the Joint Chiefs. Don't you

think so?
GOODRICH: I don't know enough sdout that; that's very intriguing to suggest.

CONDIT: The Joint Chiefs had not kept up {n the decisiommaking process, using
fewer resources, and McNamara brooght 1in his systems analysts, the Enthoven
bunch. When the Joint Chiafs came out with questions and not the right
answers, as McNamara thought, I believe that he sought for answers that

were logical, in his line of reasoning, from his systems snalysts. There
was great feeling there——you should hear what Underwood says sbout the

"Whiz Kids,” and so forth. Thare are all kinds of stories about bad

feeling between McNamara and the military.

GOODRICH: There again, it's not thst I'm a traveling salesman, but you
have just identified an approach to problem solving in the departament

which really is the opposite of the thought that occurred to ma in the
context of a general board or a council of elders. But there's mothing

wrong in a staff of whiz kids. It's kinder than Trohan's "Young Commissars

label on certain key OSD people in 1949.

CONDIT: Then you get another thing that occurs, I think. The idea that
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McBamara, and especially President Johnson, actually picked targets for

air strikes, horrifies me.
GOODRICH: The wisdom goes with the post, I guess. It's very tempting.

CONDIT: You have another problem here in this building, I think, because
you have a lot of people. If you give something to someone you have to
give somathing to someone else, whether it's military versus civilians,
or Army versus Navy and Air Force or Mariune Corps, or technical people

versus different ones. It's remarkable that it works as well as it does.
GOODRICH: That is absolutely true, it does work out.

CORDIT: I do thiuk that, if you have the right man in the White House, and

he puts the right prassure on at certain places, this place works pretty well.
GOODRICH: The people in the service are indispensable to its working well.
CONDIT: They are, but they have to be used properly,

GOODRICH: Yes, there's no question about that.

CONDIT: I always thought that Johuson was pilloried for sending troops imto
the Dominican Republic in 1965. In my view, that was a highly successful oper-
ation. A brillisnt use; but he sent enough troops——it was almost a division,
wasn't 1t? They knew what they were supposed to do, they separated the Army
from the insurgents, maneuvered around, prevented the bloody warfare that went
on in Vistnam; it was a marvelous kind of operation. And furthsermore, even
though the more liberal people were terribly disenchanted by that operatiom,
the Dominican Republic survived.
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CONDIT: But at what a cost.

GOODRICH: Right, but there we jumped in immediately. We did not in Vietnam.
Now the French, when they were in desperate straits at Dien Bien Phu, are sup~
posed to have asked for help from us, and were told no. Whether that's fact, I
don't know, but I've read that there was a request. Possibly that could have

been cauterized at that time; 1it’s possible, But later om, tan years later?

CONDIT: Look at some other differeunces between Vietnam and Korea. In Korea
you will see that three sides of Korea are on the water, We controlled the
navy; we had Japan nearby as a base, it became a staging area for us; there
vas only the area at the very top [where enemy troops could enter}. The
moment we withdrew back down toward the 38th parallel, they had to coms a
long way and their supply colusns immediately became vulnerable. The closer
we got to the Yalu, the easier their task was and the harder our task was:
We had less space in which to bomb, and they had less space to cover to get
their stuff to their troops. It was different in Vietnam. CGCeneral "Slam”
Marshall, the brother of Charles Burton Marshall, who was there at the meet-
ing, wrote an article in 1965 that I remember reading at the time. He said,
“"Anyone who goes into Vietnam and who doesn't control the Mekong River as a
barrier cannot manage this fight.”

Do you feel that we have covered the things that you wanted to cover?

GOODRICH: 1 was going to ask, do you have a list of items? Have we covered

those that you wanted to concentrate on?
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CONDIT: 1 have been checking things off, yes. I think we have, actually.

We got on to unification and we couldn't really settle it.

GOODRICH: I've given you the Goodrich plan: The general board or council
of elders of retired military people who can, on a coatinuing basis, per—

haps view the scene.

CONDIT: Would you have them specifically address unification?

et st——

GOODRICH: They could address anything thay want., Not to make issues, but
to make sure that what's going on in the department is being doue with
foresight, I think it's the look ashead, what you really have to prepare
yourself for, to get a kind of forward strategic thinking divorced from
interservice rivalry. There is, or was, by executive order,* a board of
overseers for the CIA, It was wot very widely publiciged; I think Lovett
served on it for a time. It might have been provided by executive order
years ago, maybe it {s changed uwow, but it was there, and I always thought
that it sounded like a great ides——to get private citizeus with no current
connection to CIA intelligence activities, and they were there to meet
periodically to be briefed and to advise the director of the CIA. It

was a very closed operation, but it had very leading people. This depart—

ment has nothing like it. The Joint Chiefs have a current job. Aund

*E.0. 10656, 6 Peb 56, Pres. Bd. of Consultants on Foreign Iutelligence
Activities (Eisenhower); E.O, 10938, 4 May 61, Pres. Foreign Intelligence
Advisory Bosrd (XKennedy); E.O., 11460, 20 Mar 69, Pres, Foreign Intelligence
Advisory Board (Nixon, continued by Ford); E.O. 11984, 4 May 77, Revocation
E.O. 11460, abolishing board (Carter); E.0. 12331, 20 Oct 81, Pres. Foreign
Intelligence Advisory Board {Reagan).
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given the problems of this departmant, which cartaiuly include money (at

all times, vhether you're going down or up) but more importaantly, national
security, and military effectivensss, and then the political problems
that {mpinge on all of the others, it would be great f{f we had asomething
like that on a standing basis for the Defense Department.

CONDIT: That's very interesting.

GOODRICH: You have to divorce it from current operations, from direction;

no role, just a bunch of wise men and women.
CONDIT: Cau it complain about the secretary's actions?

GOODRICH: Sure. The thought occurred to me when we were talking about
McNamara, and the impact of change coming in, and I mentioned the Wilson
era. Certainly Wilson’s arrival was smooth~—he brought in a whole new team
of people but it went smoothly. Although I was outside, I got an impression
of a much more frenetic impact wheun McNamara arrived. 1t suddealy occurred
to me that there was one characteristic common to Johuson and McNamara, two
conpletely differant people, and I think it was impatience. It never

occurred to me before.

CONDIT: Benry Glass really admired McNamara.

GOODRICH: I thiok there is a great deal to admire; a most unusual man.

But from what I heard during the early McNamsra time, certainly, there was
a lot of talk about frenetic activity., Maybe it had to be paced that way
those days. McNamara did an about-face on the Vietnam war, and the issue
of Cuba was an early, troubling problem.

END
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Department of Defense, Some Current Problems. You may keep it
in your files if you wish; no need to return it. Mrs. Condit
is interested in seeing it.

In light of references in my interview (p. 54 et seqg.) to
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Coolidge, who had been assistant secretary inm 1951 and 1952, and asked hims to

chair a committee whose other members were retired officers of considerable
rank--Admirasl Fechteler of the Navy, General John Hull of the Army, Lisutenant
Ceneral Idwal Edwards of the Air Porce, and General Gerald Thomas of the
Marines. Colonel Carey Randall, who was still with the Secretary's office,
called me down at cthe beach (1 was there on a vscation with ay wife and
son) and said that the Secretary was looking for somebody to be director
of staff io that ianterns]l inquiry; would I be interested? 1 got back and
talked with the Secretary, vhom I had gotten to know in 1953, at the time
of his confirmation., I was very happy to agree to work with that committee.
With that background, which dipped me back into Defense matters fairly
dseply some three years after I had left, and the experience of my six
years in Defeunse, I felt{;:uwa}. wvhen 1 got the request from Cutler to
prepare a paper on the history and problems in 0SD, that I really waen't
all that out of date; so I went .hud. 1 enjoyed getting it together and

l)-.l(ll)/ﬁ [ I : £‘M
got it to CutlerSAmMu the Ban who was preparing ut=5f

this material, or sort of chairing its preparation for Menmen Williams,
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e el St WA“ some way got tied in with
either the Kencedy campaign or with some of the people who were briefing

themselves on wvhat they were going to do in the new administration. I
vas utterly amazed when I discovered that Yarmolinsky was gt_:oing to be
8 special assistant to Secretary MacNamara. 1 prided _ly.elf to thinit
that at least he was well prepared, not having had any prior connection
with Defense but having that memorandum and having gone over it with me
on seversl occasions. I hope that there was nothing in that memo that

sade him the so~called enfant terrible in the Department that he later

became.
CONDIT: 1 think that was within his nsture.

GOODRICH: Now that you've mentioned his name, I did at that time have a
sort of paternsl feeling about the beginuings of the McNamars administra-
tion because of Yarmolinsky turning up where he did and the insights

into the department that I at least tried to sketch out for him.

CONDIT: 1'd like to go back to the department when you first came. When

did you arrive?

GOODRICH: 1In Pebruary 1948, I believe. That would have been about four or
five months after the department officially came into being. You might say
I was a "first settler.” They had no room, they had no desk, and they apolo-

gized for that.

CONDIT: You knew Forrestal?



